
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Budget and Performance 
Committee 

Date Thursday 12 July 2018 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-performance  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman) 
Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair) 
Sian Berry AM 
Leonie Cooper AM 

Unmesh Desai AM 
Susan Hall AM 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chairman of the Committee to deal with the 

business listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Wednesday 4 July 2018 

Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5526;  
Email: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 5526 
 
For media enquiries please contact Howard Wheeler; External Communications Officer; 
Telephone: 020 7983 4769; Email: howard.wheeler@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about 
individual items please contact the author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-performance
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:ben.walker@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Budget and Performance Committee 
Thursday 12 July 2018 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chairman.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to: 

 
(a) Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  
 
(b)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 
Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and  

 
(c)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 
which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 
of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 
Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 
action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 

 
 

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 90) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meetings of the 

Budget and Performance Committee held on 22 May 2018 and 12 June 2018 to be 

signed by the Chairman as a correct record.  
 

 The appendices to the minutes set out on pages 11 to 46 and 51 to 90 are attached for 
Members and officers only but are available from the following area of the GLA’s website: 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-performance  
 
 

4 Summary List of Actions (Pages 91 - 94) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Laura Pelling; laura.pelling@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 5526 
 
The Committee is recommended to note the completed and outstanding actions 

arising from previous meetings of the Committee. 
 
 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-performance
mailto:laura.pelling@london.gov.uk


 

4 
 

5 Transport for London Finances (Pages 95 - 96) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Will King; will.king@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 5592 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the report, put questions to invited guests on Transport for London’s 

finances and note the discussion; and 

 

(b) Delegate authority to the Chairman, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree the final report for this 

investigation. 
 
 

6 Budget and Performance Committee Work Programme (Pages 97 - 100) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Richard Berry; richard.berry@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4000 

  

The Committee is recommended to agree its work programme for the remainder of 

the 2018/19 Assembly year, including the schedule of prospective topics for 

forthcoming meetings as set out at paragraph 4.5 of the report.  
 
 

7 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for Thursday 27 September 2018 at 10.00am 

in the Chamber, City Hall. 
 
 

8 Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:will.king@london.gov.uk
mailto:richard.berry@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2018 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Budget and Performance Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 12 July 2018 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM  

Jennette Arnold OBE AM European Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM Member, LB Lewisham 

Unmesh Desai AM  

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM  

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM  

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Alternate Member, European Committee of the Regions 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience; Chair of the London 
Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough] 
 

3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

https://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 5526 

E-mail: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Budget and Performance 
Committee 

Date: Tuesday 22 May 2018 
Time: 11.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-performance   

 

 
Present: 
 
Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman) 
Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair) 
Sian Berry AM 
Leonie Cooper AM 
Unmesh Desai AM 
Susan Hall AM 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements (Item 1) 

 
1.1 There were no apologies for absence.  
 
1.2 The Chairman noted that today marked the one year anniversary since the Manchester 

attack. He described it as an appalling attack and noted the Committee’s sadness at this 
anniversary.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-performance


Greater London Authority 
Budget and Performance Committee 

Tuesday 22 May 2018 

 

 
 

2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 
2.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
2.2 Resolved: 
 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 
Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests. 

 
 
3   Membership of the Committee (Item 3) 

 
3.1 Resolved: 
 

That the membership and chairing arrangements for the Budget and Performance 
Committee as agreed by the Annual Meeting of the London Assembly on               
10 May 2018, as follows: 
 
Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman) 
Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair) 
Sian Berry AM  
Leonie Cooper AM  
Unmesh Desai AM 
Susan Hall AM 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 

 
 
4   Terms of Reference (Item 4) 

 
4.1 Resolved: 
 

That the terms of reference, as agreed at the Annual Meeting of the London 
Assembly on 10 May 2018 and as set out at Agenda Item 4 for the meeting, be 
noted.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Budget and Performance Committee 

Tuesday 22 May 2018 

 

 
 

5   Standing Delegations (Item 5) 

 
5.1 Resolved: 
 

That the standing delegation of authority to the Chairman of the Budget and 
Performance Committee, as set out below, be noted. 
 
At its Annual Meeting on 1 May 2013, the Assembly agreed to delegate a general 
authority to Chairs of all ordinary committees and sub-committees to respond on 
the relevant committee or sub-committee’s behalf, following consultation with the 
lead Members of the party Groups on the committee or sub-committee, where it is 
consulted on issues by organisations and there is insufficient time to consider the 
consultation at a committee meeting. 
 
The then Budget Committee, on 22 June 2006, resolved: 
  
That the Chair be given delegated authority to write to the appropriate bodies 
seeking further information arising from discussion at meetings. 

 
 
6   Minutes (Item 6) 

 

6.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 6 March 2018 be signed by the Chairman 

as a correct record. 

 
 
7   Re-establishment of the Budget Monitoring Sub-Committee (Item 7) 

 
7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
7.2 Resolved: 

 
(a)  That the decision taken by the London Assembly at the Annual Meeting on    
10 May 2018 to re-establish the Budget Monitoring Sub-Committee as an ordinary 
sub-committee for the 2018/19 Assembly year, be noted; 

(b)  That the following term of reference for the Budget Monitoring                   
Sub-Committee, as agreed at the Annual Meeting, be noted: 

“To consider the quarterly monitoring reports provided by the GLA and its 
functional bodies as referred to it by the Budget and Performance Committee, and 
any other reports falling within the terms of reference of the Budget and 
Performance Committee which that Committee considers appropriate, and to report 
back its findings to the Budget and Performance Committee as necessary”; 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Budget and Performance Committee 

Tuesday 22 May 2018 

 

 
 

 

(c)  That the membership and chairing arrangements for the Budget Monitoring 
Sub-Committee as agreed at the Annual Meeting be noted as follows: 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman); 
Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair); and 
Jennette Arnold OBE AM. 
 
(d)  That the Sub-Committee’s timetable of meetings, as set out in paragraph 4.3 of 
the report, be noted; and 

(e)  That is be agreed to refer automatically the following reports to the Sub-
Committee for the 2018/19 Assembly year: 

The quarterly monitoring reports provided by the GLA and its functional bodies; 

The Mayor's Decision Lists; 

Payments above £250; 

Treasury Management Strategy; and 

Fees and Charges. 

 
 
8   Summary List of Actions (Item 8) 

 
8.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
8.2 Resolved: 
 

That the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the 
Committee, and additional correspondence received, be noted. 

 
 
9   GLA Key Performance Indicators (Item 9) 

 

9.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on the Greater London Authority’s (GLA) Key Performance Indicators to 

the following invited guests: 

 David Bellamy, Mayor’s Chief of Staff; 

 David Lunts, Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, 

GLA; 

 Tom Middleton, Head of Finance and Governance, GLA;  

 Tim Somerville, Corporate Governance Manager, GLA; and 

 Elliot Treharne, Policy & Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), GLA. 

Page 8



Greater London Authority 
Budget and Performance Committee 

Tuesday 22 May 2018 

 

 
 

9.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached as Appendix 1. 

 

9.3 During the course of the discussion, the following points were made: 

 The Mayor’s Chief of Staff agreed to consider what additional baseline and historic data 

could be included in the KPIs and to report back to the Committee; 

 The Committee asked officers to consider introducing additional information, particularly 

on environmental targets, in the database to explain the RAG ratings, particularly where 

no targets have been set for the current year, and to report back to the Committee; 

 Officers agreed to consider whether interim targets could be included, particularly on 

zero-emission taxis, in the KPIs in order to meet 2020 and 2025 targets, and to report 

back to the Committee; 

 The Executive Director of Housing and Land agreed to provide the Committee with 

further information on the GLA’s definition of a housing start and details of targets and 

deadlines set for each of major projects being undertaken by the GLA Land team; 

 The Executive Director of Housing and Land agreed to review PI-3 on exiting rough 

sleeping to consider whether any amendments were needed to suitably target hard to 

reach rough sleepers, and to discuss with the Assembly; 

 Further information on the KPIs expected to be introduced for public health issues; and 

 Further information, including the timeline, on the KPIs to be introduced for carbon 

emissions. 

 

9.4 Resolved: 

 
(a) That the action taken by the Chairman under delegated authority, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to 
agree the topic for the meeting, be noted; and 

 

(b) That the report and discussion be noted. 
 

 

10   Budget and Performance Committee Work Programme (Item 10) 

 

10.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

  

10.2 Resolved: 

 
(a) That the schedule of meetings for 2018/19, as agreed by the London Assembly 

at its Annual Meeting on 10 May 2018 and as set out at paragraph 4.4 of the 
report, and the schedule of meetings for the Budget Monitoring Sub-
Committee set out at paragraph 4.5 of the report, be noted; and 

 
(b) That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree the scope and terms of 
reference for an investigation into Transport for London’s finances. 

Page 9



Greater London Authority 
Budget and Performance Committee 

Tuesday 22 May 2018 

 

 
 

 
11   Date of Next Meeting (Item 11) 

 

11.1 The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for 12 June 2018 at 10.00am in the 

Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
12   Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent (Item 12) 

 
12.1 There were no other items of business. 

 
 
13   Close of Meeting  

 
13.1 The meeting ended at 12.59pm. 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chairman  Date 
 
Contact Officer: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5526; 

Email: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 5526 
 

Page 10



 

London Assembly Budget and Performance Committee – 22 May 2018 
 

Transcript of Agenda Item 9 – GLA Key Performance Indicators  
 
 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  The main item of business today, then, is item 9, which relates to the 

Greater London Authority’s (GLA) key performance indicators (KPIs).  I would like to welcome our guests.  

Firstly, Elliot Treharne is the Policy and Programmes Manager for Air Quality and Hydrogen.  Welcome, Elliot.  

Is it your first time in front of the Assembly? 

 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), Greater London 

Authority):  It is the first time in front of this Committee.  I have done the Environment Committee a few 

times. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Welcome.  David Lunts, well known to all of us, is now the interim Head of 

Paid Service [HoPS] and Executive Director of Housing and Land.  Tom Middleton, also known to very many of 

us, is Head of Finance and Governance.  David Bellamy, the Mayor’s Chief of Staff, will be joining us later, I 

understand, at around 12.00pm, but we have Tim Somerville, who is the Corporate Governance Manager.  

Welcome to you, Tim. 

 

We have had a preliminary discussion downstairs, Members, and we are going to open up by talking about KPIs 

and how they will change behaviour.  Assembly Member Pidgeon is going to lead on that. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  We have just had a very interesting discussion this morning and we are all 

becoming experts on KPIs.  We have looked through the information you have provided to us, but how do you 

expect these new indicators to change behaviour at City Hall?  Perhaps I could start with you, David. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  I guess it is a combination of things and, clearly, with a new administration undertaking 

new programmes and old priorities shifting to new priorities, it has taken a while to think through organising 

the performance framework for those new projects, programmes and initiatives.  I am sure David Bellamy 

[Mayor’s Chief of Staff] will want to cover some of this when he arrives.  It is fair to say that the new 

administration has wanted to take a slightly different approach not only to political and policy priorities but 

also to looking again at the way that we manage, monitor and review performance.  That is why we have 

settled - or the administration has settled - on a portfolio approach, initially at least, to look at five key priority 

themes that the Mayor has very publicly endorsed: housing; air quality, which is one of the reasons why Elliot 

and I are here; culture and the creative industries; social integration, and I know there was a lengthy discussion 

with Matthew Ryder [Deputy Mayor for Social Integration, Social Mobility and Community Engagement] on 

social integration last week; and to look ahead at the future London economy.  Those are the key themes and 

they are set out as very important priorities for the Mayor. 

 

Then, within each of those themes, it is looking not just at KPIs, which can be rather a narrow set of indicators, 

but across the piece at the outcomes that those initiatives are looking to deliver for Londoners, to look at a 

range - a basket, if you like - of performance indicators; to think about what the deliverables are as well as just 

the narrow KPIs.  What are the success measurements of each of those initiatives?  Also, quite importantly, it is 

to integrate perhaps more closely than has been in the past, frankly, performance with budget monitoring, 

Appendix 1 

Page 11



 

bringing budget management much more closely together with performance management against those 

initiatives. 

 

Finally, another very important point is that it is obvious that many of those initiatives that the Mayor endorses 

and leads are going to have deliverables, but they are also contingent on a whole range of external factors.  We 

are not primarily a wholesale service-delivery organisation.  That is one of the reasons why the new 

administration has taken a slightly more three-dimensional view of performance management because it is not 

just about narrow KPIs that a normal business or a normal service-delivery organisation may be responsible for.  

We have to think about how the outcomes meet the ground, given that we are usually only responsible for 

indirect or relatively marginal interventions in some of those areas.  There are one or two exceptions to that 

and it is no coincidence that me representing the Housing and Land team and Elliot representing what we are 

doing on air quality are two areas perhaps where there is rather more direct impact for the investments that we 

are making and I am sure we will come to that during the course of the discussion. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  We will come on to those areas.  Can you, David, give any example or any 

evidence to demonstrate what you have just described and how you are integrating performance management 

with budget management much more closely?  Can you give me an example to show how this is working? 

 

Tom Middleton (Head of Finance & Governance, Greater London Authority):  Do you mind if I step in? 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Tom, if you would like to help David there, yes. 

 

Tom Middleton (Head of Finance & Governance, Greater London Authority):  David has only just 

become the HoPS and so -- 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  Seven days. 

 

Tom Middleton (Head of Finance & Governance, Greater London Authority):  -- we have not had a 

chance to fully brief him on all of this stuff.  Besides the general point that David has just been making about 

the cross-cutting nature of these outcomes, which is an important point, the specific thing I would point to, 

which is new and which is starting off around now with the first quarter of the new financial year, is the 

recording of actual expenditure. 

 

The approach that the GLA and the functional bodies took - and some of the Members on this Committee will 

be familiar with this - over many years was that at Q1 and Q2, people forecast the annual expenditure but did 

not give the actuals.  Therefore, the biggest change we are making is to record the actuals.  It will not come as 

a huge shock to people who have followed this over a number of years that what that will show you is that Q1 

and Q2 are quite quiet in terms of levels of expenditure and it ramps up in Q3 and Q4.  In some cases, there 

may be good reasons for that.  In other cases, it should be a more even spend across the year and people 

should not be panicking in the last half of the year and trying to get money out of the door.  That has been a 

pattern for quite a few years, i.e. Q1 and Q2 relatively little expenditure and Q3 and Q4 much higher. 

 

I know that David [Bellamy, Mayor’s Chief of Staff] when he arrives - he is at a resilience meeting and therefore 

that is why he is not here right now - will be keen to point out that he would like, on a quarterly basis, 

whichever quarter it is, to examine that very carefully with the policy teams and programme teams.  Is there a 

Page 12



 

good reason for it or is there not?  Should there be a more even spend?  There may be a few areas where that 

is the right way of doing it, but in most areas it should be a more even spread across the year.  In terms of 

practically what you will see on this Committee and what we are looking into is that phenomenon.  In most 

areas, it needs to be challenged and David is keen to challenge it.  He wants to challenge it. 

 

The three senior people whom he imagines will be having these quarterly meetings and calling colleagues 

before it are himself, Nick Bowes as [Mayoral Director of Policy] and the new Chief Officer.  That triumvirate 

will be looking at each of those areas and saying, “These are your actual levels of spend.  The critical issue 

there is that not only should the spend be more even, but how does it correlate to your performance?  If your 

performance stats are amazingly good but you are not spending any money, how does that work?  What are 

the interrelationships?” 

 

Now, as David [Lunts] has rightly said, in some of these areas there is quite a clean read across.  The GLA 

spends money, things happen in the world and in London.  Other areas are more challenging.  We mentioned 

social integration.  We had a session the other day.  It is harder to measure our input into that.  Therefore, it 

will be different.  Elliot is here today.  Elliot’s area is probably one area where - the GLA, Transport for London 

(TfL), other areas of government - to some extent you can track our investment and see the outcomes of that.  

There are other areas.  Culture is another example, cultural participation and equalities issues in culture.  We 

have cultural initiatives but we do not run the West End, for example.  Again, it will be looking at how far we 

have got with our programmes and trying to give you a narrative and give others a narrative that makes some 

sense of what we are doing. 

 

It is quite a challenging task that the Chief of Staff has set himself and the rest of us because it is a more 

holistic approach, as David [Lunts] said, but we are starting it and we will have to refine it and you will, no 

doubt, have views on how we do it. 

 

Tim Somerville (Corporate Governance Manager, Greater London Authority):  One thing that is worth 

adding, if I may, is the challenge we have had from the Mayor’s Office during the process on getting the 

qualitative aspects of this right.  For example, I have had lots of notes back from upstairs over our drafts with 

big rings around saying, “Yes, but how are we measuring the quality of jobs, for example, not just counting 

jobs?”  That has challenged people in the business to go away and think about not just how they are setting up 

their projects but also how they count the things that come out of those projects. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  Can I just add, maybe just for completeness, one other point on budget, which occurs to 

me as well?  It is quite a good example of a closer marriage between performance and budgeting, which has 

already come back to bite a few of my colleagues.  It is a different and a much more assertive approach to 

yearend carry-forwards.  It is fair to say that there maybe was a bit of an assumption that underspend at the 

yearend would just roll forward.  I can tell you that the new Chief of Staff has a rather different and slightly 

more disciplined view of that.  If there is been slippage for good reason and it has not impacted on 

performance, fine.  If not, then do not assume that a carry-forward is necessarily going to be simply approved.  

There are a number of things that are definitely moving towards a closer integration of budget management 

and performance management. 

 

Tom Middleton (Head of Finance & Governance, Greater London Authority):  That is why, regardless of 

the quarter number, every quarter, we - from the Chief of Staff downwards - want a more rigorous approach, 

Page 13



 

not just saving it all up for Q3 and Q4 in terms of the carry-forwards.  We want a rigorous approach to say, 

“What is your honest estimate?  What is really going to happen?  Plan on that basis and report that in terms of 

the actual spend”, which you will be seeing shortly. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  You called this “challenging” and you talked about a process which sounds like 

it is a new process where the Chief of Staff, the Chief Officer and I cannot remember who else -- 

 

Tom Middleton (Head of Finance & Governance, Greater London Authority):  Nick Bowes, the Director 

of Policy at the Mayor’s Office. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  They will be, every quarter, going through this forensically in a kind of 

stocktake? 

 

Tom Middleton (Head of Finance & Governance, Greater London Authority):  Yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Is that new?  Did that not happen in the past? 

 

Tom Middleton (Head of Finance & Governance, Greater London Authority):  It is new for this 

administration.  You will be aware that in the past we have had slightly different approaches under the previous 

two Mayors.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Did they not do a regular stocktake of performance at City Hall? 

 

Tom Middleton (Head of Finance & Governance, Greater London Authority):  As I am speaking, I am 

trying to recall exactly what used to happen. 

 

Tim Somerville (Corporate Governance Manager, Greater London Authority):  In the                  [The 

Rt. Hon] Boris Johnson [MP, former Mayor of London] days, we had the Investment Performance Board that 

took reports on performance and was challenged there before it came to the Assembly.  What we did not have 

was the quarterly challenge process to the extent we had at Q3 in the past financial year and will be setting up 

from Q1 where we pick themes and the Chief of Staff assesses those based on advice from the Performance 

and Governance team to support the challenge.  At Q3 we also had the Chief Digital Officer involved as a 

critical friend, which included challenging the process as well.  We will be speaking to him in more detail to help 

develop it in the future. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Can you give me any other examples showing how this new performance 

indicator is changing other behaviour at City Hall? 

 

Tom Middleton (Head of Finance & Governance, Greater London Authority):  We need to be frank 

about this.  This is early days in terms of this whole regime -- 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Just on that point, it is halfway through the term. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  It is two years in, yes. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  It is not early days.  We are more than 50% through. 

Page 14



 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  I would like an account for why it is taken two years to reinvent the wheel. 

 

Tom Middleton (Head of Finance & Governance, Greater London Authority):  We have been here 

before.  In terms of the regime we had under the current Mayor’s immediate predecessor, that came in early in 

the second term, and therefore it does take some time.  The development of statutory strategies - and some of 

them are coming before the Assembly at the moment - is closely linked to some of the implementation plans 

and some of the projects and programmes.  Ideally, we would have had this up and running sooner and 

therefore we are being honest in saying it is challenging, but it takes a while under any Mayor. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Indeed, but in the session that we had beforehand we heard that it took 

between seven and nine months for the incoming Coalition Government after 13 years of a Labour Government 

to get its single departmental plans organised.  With the best will in the world, I cannot imagine that a mayoral 

administration is more complex than the entirety of Whitehall. 

 

How do you account for that?  We have been promised this and we have asked for this.  We have asked for this 

many times and we have been promised at regular intervals by the Chief of Staff [David Bellamy] and by the 

Mayor as well that these were coming, and it has taken the thick end of two years.  Why? 

 

Tom Middleton (Head of Finance & Governance, Greater London Authority):  It has just taken that 

amount of time to scope it all out and write it all down.  I take your point. Maybe that is a challenge for our 

planning for future administrations in terms of getting this done sooner.  Some of the plans we have, which 

have come before you in different guises, are to have a proper staffing cohort to do this and that came before 

the [London Assembly’s GLA] Oversight [Committee] the other day. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Did you devise the KPIs in a vacuum or are you guided by -- because you are 

all officials.  The Mayor’s Chief of Staff is a political appointment.  The Mayor himself is an elected politician.  

How much do they play a role in setting the KPIs? 

 

Tom Middleton (Head of Finance & Governance, Greater London Authority):  The KPIs belong to the 

mayoralty of the day and therefore, yes, they have the final say. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  The reason for asking the question is that we are halfway through the 

administration.  There is no guarantee of a second administration.  He may assume that he will get one but 

there is no guarantee of that.  I would have thought that it is in the Mayor’s best interests to be able to direct 

performance in the best way possible, which is why I am surprised that it has taken half of a mayoral term to 

come up with anything that resembles a suite of KPIs. 

 

Tim Somerville (Corporate Governance Manager, Greater London Authority):  There are a couple of 

things to bear in mind.  One is that it is not that we have not had measures of performance and indicators in 

the interim.  We have been doing lots of project monitoring and that has come before the Committee and the 

Sub-Committee. 

 

The other thing is that it is very challenging because all of the [The Rt. Hon] Boris Johnson [MP former Mayor 

of London] indicators essentially were defunct by the time the previous Mayor left because they measured 

Page 15



 

projects and programmes that aligned with his mayoral term and therefore there was not a ready-made set of 

indicators in the way that Whitehall can pick up that we could -- 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  I will take you back to what I said about the Coalition Government because, 

after a decade and three years, it is fair to assume that a new Government has completely different priorities to 

its predecessor, and they managed to do it in a significantly speedier timeframe.  I am surprised that the Mayor 

has sat around for two years and allowed this to just drift along. 

 

Tom Middleton (Head of Finance & Governance, Greater London Authority):  That is a fair challenge.  

It is not just the Mayor’s Office in isolation.  There is the role we play centrally, but there is also a lot of liaison 

with the policy teams and teams delivering the programmes.  However, that is absolutely a fair challenge and 

after future mayoral elections that is something that we corporately should look to improve.  That is an 

absolutely fair point. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  Can I just maybe add a word or two as well?  It is a fair challenge.  It is a legitimate 

challenge.  Certainly, if the Chief of Staff were here, I think he would be the first to acknowledge that there is 

still some work in progress here. 

 

On the other hand, though, it is important to bear in mind that there is, as we have already heard, a pretty 

comprehensive suite of performance monitoring reports that are examined quarterly across all directorates.  It is 

also fair to say that this administration has probably got to grips with some of the key issues around objective 

setting and KPIs faster certainly than the predecessor administration managed to do. 

 

Thirdly, it is also important to highlight that in certain key areas which the Mayor has prioritised, there has 

been a very vigorous and rigorous set of performance management arrangements and targets.  I could speak 

very personally about housing, for instance, where from very early in this administration there were very 

specific targets agreed not just with the Mayor but with national Government.  There is a very comprehensive 

performance management regime in that directorate -- 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  That was required in exchange for the grant.  They are not going to hand 

over £3.15 billion with no expectation of when you are going to deliver it, are they? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  No, that is absolutely fair, but it is also the case that in negotiating that target, it sat 

very quickly and very easily within a performance management framework that has been very well established.  

Some other parts of City Hall, frankly, where there has been a lot more change and where new initiatives have 

been set up and new budget and new growth is coming through, it is taking a little longer to settle some of 

those performance expectations and measurements. 

 

All I am saying is that in those priority areas, particularly those ones where the Mayor is being held to account 

for some quite direct interventions, the performance management regime is a lot more robust than has been in 

place virtually since the start of this administration. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Yes, but the performance management reports that you are talking about 

are distinctively different from KPIs, are they not?  At the outset of the discussion, there was talk about how 

Page 16



 

these performance reports are going to be targeted to budgets and actuals and outcomes.  That is fine.  

Nobody would object to that.  That makes perfect sense.  However, monitoring output or the performance 

monitoring reports that you have alluded to is not the same as the strategic KPIs that are assigned to the 

Mayor’s priorities, are they? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  It depends.  In some cases, they perhaps are.  In other cases, I would agree that those 

indicators need to be more developed.  Certainly, again, perhaps using the example I know best in the housing 

field, those KPIs are very clear and those are very strategic as well as operational.  It depends where one looks. 

 

Tom Middleton (Head of Finance & Governance, Greater London Authority):  May I just add something 

to that?  If we take an example, the two areas represented today are probably the most concrete, as David has 

described.  Take, for example, social integration.  As Matthew Ryder explained the other day, a lot of what they 

are doing, which makes it that much more difficult, is scoping out what their interventions might be.  A lot of 

their initial work over the first couple of years is scoping out where they might want to spend their money.  

However, I absolutely take your basic point that you would have thought a year into any mayoralty that there 

should be something on the table.  We corporately need to learn the lesson. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  The purpose of my questions is not to sit here and beast the four of you.  

You are all officials.  The Mayor is accountable for the performance of his administration.  Quite frankly, the 

grass has been growing under his feet to a very considerable extent and I am very surprised by that.  I would 

have thought that he would be much keener on monitoring performance and making sure that it is working 

properly.  However, perhaps the Chief of Staff and then later the Mayor himself can answer for that.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  We have these new performance indicators.  Can you explain how they are 

being used internally and what sits behind them? 

 

Tom Middleton (Head of Finance & Governance, Greater London Authority):  Tim might be better 

placed because he is the person who liaises with the teams on that. 

 

Tim Somerville (Corporate Governance Manager, Greater London Authority):  The majority of the 

indicators flow from particular programmes or projects.  The corporate reporting is at the top of the pyramid, in 

a way.  We expect the teams to be monitoring the performance locally and challenging performance locally 

where there are partners involved and where there are grant agreements.  We have a corporate dashboard for 

each project that tracks indicators related to that project but also spend, risk, issues and the other standard 

components you would expect to see in a project and performance management regime.  That also feeds into 

challenge from the Deputy Mayors around their portfolios.  Then it is at that apex of the performance 

management process where it comes to the corporate centre and we have a role in further challenging 

performance.  As part of the new quarterly challenge, we will be providing notes to the Chief of Staff to help 

him challenge performance and, of course, the Assembly has a critical role as well.  That is why we want to be 

transparent and make sure we get that further challenge, too. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  You are saying there is another layer of challenge there with the Deputy Mayors 

also challenging their areas? 

 

Page 17



 

Tim Somerville (Corporate Governance Manager, Greater London Authority):  Yes.  They have been 

closely involved in the process.  They sign off all of the portfolio dashboards.  It depends a bit on the Deputy 

Mayor exactly the process they go through, but certainly I am aware that Shirley Rodrigues [Deputy Mayor for 

Environment and Energy] has been quite challenging on the air quality dashboard.  I have seen her comments 

and the queries she has made and asked the team to look into further.  It does depend a bit from Deputy 

Mayor to Deputy Mayor, but it is happening at a number of levels, the performance management and the 

challenge. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  OK.  Are these targets stretching enough? 

 

Tim Somerville (Corporate Governance Manager, Greater London Authority):  I guess time will tell.  

Certainly, the affordable housing and the air quality targets, David [Lunts] and Elliot will be able to say more -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  We will get on to that, yes. 

 

Tim Somerville (Corporate Governance Manager, Greater London Authority):  -- but you could say 

they are a degree above what we had before in terms of challenge.  It is a good question.  We certainly 

challenged it.  David Bellamy and Nick Bowes have challenged the targets during the setting process.  If we see 

the performance seems to be exceeding where we thought we would be, we will look at the targets again and 

consider resetting them. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  You would consider revising them if you think they are far too -- 

 

Tim Somerville (Corporate Governance Manager, Greater London Authority):  Yes, if they do not look 

challenging enough.  To be honest, perhaps the opposite as well, if we have misjudged it and the targets 

appear too challenging.  Not on affordable homes, I am sure we are stuck with that, but we might relook at 

some of the targets in that direction, too. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  You want people to be able to achieve them but you do not want it to be so 

easy that there is not enough incentive for strong performance from the staff? 

 

Tim Somerville (Corporate Governance Manager, Greater London Authority):  Exactly.  Precisely.  It is 

about getting that balance. 

 

Tom Middleton (Head of Finance & Governance, Greater London Authority):  Monitoring trends is 

really important as well.  Regardless of the target, you can monitor the trends and see if it is going in the right 

direction. 

 

Tim Somerville (Corporate Governance Manager, Greater London Authority):  A lot of our targets are 

related to funding and to money.  As we enter into grant agreements, that really helps set the targets because 

we set targets for our partners based on how much money we are giving them and we need to make sure we 

set in those grant agreements challenging and stretching targets to make sure we get value for money.  That 

helps inform our wider KPIs. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Looking through your document, red-amber-green (RAG) ratings are something 

we are used to and it is quite good practice, but 10 of your 13 KPIs are rated “green” in your latest update.  

Page 18



 

For some of them, I cannot understand how they are green.  Does this not indicate that these targets are not 

stretching enough or that maybe you are not assessing this correctly?  You have indicators on economic 

fairness and skills that you have given a green rating, but you have no targets to measure performance against, 

which seems a bit bizarre. 

 

Tim Somerville (Corporate Governance Manager, Greater London Authority):  That is a fair challenge.  

The traffic light rating there would reflect whether we are meeting our timescales to develop and implement 

those targets.  Perhaps the report should have been clearer about what that rating reflected on.  It is more 

difficult at the beginning.  As you say, some of these targets are relatively new.  It is quite hard to be 

challenging.  We do not have the timeline for all of these indicators to judge whether performance is in the 

ascendancy or decreasing. 

 

I agree with you in that it is very difficult to challenge them at the start and I would like personally to have a 

better handle on some of these indicators, whether they are green, amber or red.  As we progress, having a 

timeline of historic data will really help with the challenge. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Do you not think that you need to bring in - we were having this discussion 

beforehand - some way of assessing what is green, what is amber and what is red in terms of percentage away 

from your targets so that there is a very accurate measure?  Rather than someone saying, “Go on, we will put 

that in green”, when really it should be amber because you are not going to achieve it yet, is there some sort of 

criteria you could set and set out that would make this clearer and fairer, really? 

 

Tim Somerville (Corporate Governance Manager, Greater London Authority):  Definitely.  We do have 

some guidance that sits behind it that helps teams to assess the traffic light [rating].  David Bellamy made 

exactly the same challenge to me at the previous round of quarterly monitoring and so I have some work to do, 

to go away and to be more precise about what those thresholds are when something is green, amber green, 

amber red or red. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  There is another one.  It is PI2.  The target is a very good one because it is 

very easy to measure. 

 

Tim Somerville (Corporate Governance Manager, Greater London Authority):  Sorry, which theme is 

this? 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  It is on nitrogen oxide (NOx) emissions.  The target is, using 2016 as a 

baseline, which is fine and it is understandable why you would start there, a 90% reduction in NOx emissions 

from buses by the end of 2020.  We are halfway through and the reduction has been 27%, less than a third of 

the target, and its RAG rating is green with no narrative to explain why it is green.  How does that work? 

 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), Greater London 

Authority):  The reason it is green is that we are on track for achieving the end objective because of the 

phasing -- 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Explain to me how. 

 

Page 19



 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), Greater London 

Authority):  The phasing of the retrofits to the bus fleet, which are integral to delivering that overall target, 

have been phased.  The reason that they are skewed towards the back end of the time window is because we 

have been developing all the retrofit technology we need for the different types of buses.  That has been 

the -- 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Why has that not been stated in the report? 

 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), Greater London 

Authority):  That is very helpful feedback and, absolutely, we can add that in. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  The point of this is to hold the mayoral administration accountable for the 

work that it does, but the danger is that it gets used as vanity tool to suggest that everything is brilliant.  On a 

simple question like that, there is nothing in this report on that particular indicator that suggests that you are 

remotely on track.  Of course, you could say, “We are phasing in the bus fleet and it is going to be in in years 3 

and 4 and this is how many we are going to do and this is why it is green”, but it does not.  Therefore, this 

loses value.  It depends who your audience is, I suppose.  Who are these reports pitched towards? 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  It does not have a 2017/18 target.  You could have just put it simply in that comment.  

In fact, under “Air quality”, it says, “Not applicable”, “Not applicable”, “Not applicable”, for 2017/18 targets.  

How do I know how many buses should be retrofitted in 2016/17, 2017/18, 2018/19 or 2019/20?  I cannot 

tell and therefore I have no idea whether that is a justifiable rating of green or whether it should go into this 

complexity of amber green, green amber, amber red and red, which I have to say I find too overcomplex.  It 

does not tell me that when you are 10% off target it goes into amber or when you are 20% off target it goes 

into red.  It is not very explicable.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  A quick response from Elliot. 

 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), Greater London 

Authority):  Just on that point, that is very helpful feedback.  Part of the challenge that was alluded to, of 

course, is that for the air quality reporting we capture a lot of TfL objectives.  TfL for its own scorecard does 

have a more detailed breakdown, which we can incorporate into this.  The reason we use 2020 is that the 

formal commitment made by the Mayor is for 2020 and therefore that is where we are focusing in terms of 

monitoring. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Nobody is objecting to that.  It is the way the report is packaged and the 

way the data is contained within it.  Without wishing to beat the same drum all the time, this is not rocket 

science.  There are plenty of good examples of how KPIs should be done elsewhere and therefore I am 

surprised that stuff like this is news to anybody.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  I have just precursored some of my thoughts on this because that is the area I want to 

ask about if I may, Elliot, is about the air quality targets.  I have a whole series of problems and issues with the 

way they are laid out, but I just wondered if you have any concerns regarding whether or not you can meet the 

overall targets, and then let us dig into what is actually presented to us. 

 

Page 20



 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), Greater London 

Authority):  One of the big strategic challenges that we have had in terms of delivering significant 

improvements to air quality in London has been about making sure that we have the right level of support from 

the Government both in terms of the funding that we require and also, crucially, in terms of some of the 

additional powers that the Mayor has been making the case for.  As many of you may have noticed, today 

there has been something of a quite big announcement from [The Rt. Hon] Michael Gove [MP, Secretary of 

State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs] around this.  The Mayor and Michael Gove have discussed this 

and it sounds like there is going to be some positive movement in terms of securing some of the additional 

powers that the Mayor has been asking for, particularly relating to construction as one area, which is also in 

this dashboard that we reproduce.  The biggest challenge that we probably have is still about making sure that 

we get any legislation and powers delivered as quickly as possible.  There is still a concern around urgency. 

 

One of the other big challenges that we have talked about, especially in landing some of the big complicated 

changes, whether it is the bus fleet, the taxi fleet or more widely with the Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ), is 

about making sure that we have the right levels of national funding available to support what is happening in 

London.  As you will be aware, the Government does have a Clean Air Fund, which is available to other parts of 

the country.  Londoners are contributing to that funding through a diesel surcharge through the vehicle excise 

duty (VED) system and we are trying to make the case for why London needs to be able to access that funding 

to deliver, amongst other things, a scrappage scheme. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Yes.  I did listen to [The Rt. Hon] Michael Gove [MP, Secretary of State for Environment, 

Food and Rural Affairs] this morning and I was quite heartened to hear him talking about the non-road mobile 

machinery (NRMM) and also the woodburning issues.  It still is a problem for us not to have a new Clean Air 

Act and also to make that clean air funding available for Londoners when we pay in and then not get anything 

out.  

 

The overall context is important, as you say, but there is this specific work that is being done by staff in the 

building and elsewhere across the whole of TfL.  Having the top-level 2020 KPIs and also some 2050 KPIs as 

well, how does that affect the work of the directorate and the contribution that is being made by staff?  Does 

it help drive towards those? 

 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), Greater London 

Authority):  Absolutely.  We have done a lot of work to understand the long-term impact of the policies we 

are putting in place and that broader trajectory that we are trying to establish now in terms of things like, for 

example, a shift to zero-emission vehicles, which will help to deliver some of those longer-term 2050 targets.  

However, we are very mindful that the action needed to deliver that outcome needs to be starting now. 

 

To your point around interim targets, as you will have seen, there is a huge amount of focus around both 2020 

and 2025.  The reason for that in air quality, of course, is that I imagine 2020 is a pretty obvious date as to why 

the Mayor may be interested in what has happened by 2020, and 2025 is because of some of the legal drivers 

in terms of when the Government in its air quality plan has said that the United Kingdom (UK) will achieve 

compliance.  The Mayor’s view on 2025 is that it should be earlier than that, but the established date currently 

in the Government’s plan as the formal reporting authority to the European Union (EU) is 2025.  Therefore, a 

lot of the work that we are doing in terms of delivering improvements in terms of the taxi fleet or the bus fleet, 

delivery of things like the ULEZ and then also some of the forthcoming work that we are now doing around 

zero-emission zones, are linked to those dates.  While, absolutely, it is important to have that long-term 

Page 21



 

ambition set out for 2050, there is a lot of interim work that we know needs to be delivered to make sure that 

we are on that glide path to achieving 2050. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  We have just explored the issue about the level of data that we have on progress on the 

bus fleet and why we have found it difficult to understand why that has a green rating.  Do you accept that it is 

difficult for us to judge that this is green without more information?  You have now supplied that. 

 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), Greater London 

Authority):  Absolutely.  That was a very fair challenge and it is something that I am sure the team here and 

Tim [Somerville] in particular will be taking away.  We will be seeing what further information we can build into 

these dashboards.  We are happy to provide that information. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  You can imagine that my next question is about the taxis, which are rated “amber red”.  

Only 10 out of 8,990 sounds like a clear red, not an amber red, to me.  How has that ever come to be rated as 

an amber red?  Our machine that has produced the colours on the ratings has just rated it as red here, maybe 

the photocopier knows more than we do.  However, 10 out of 8,990 surely under anything is a red indicator at 

this point between now and 2020.  Taxis sit around idling on taxi ranks and are a massive contributor, actually, 

probably to ill-health for taxi drivers but also certainly for anyone who goes near them.  They are everywhere all 

over the city. 

 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), Greater London 

Authority):  Again, as you will have recognised from the way we have structured this dashboard, the area 

where we are focusing a lot of attention at the moment is around how we deliver the targets around the taxi 

fleet.  The key point to get out of this is that it is still very early days.  The beginning of this year [2018] was 

when the new zero-emission-capable licensing requirement came in. 

 

The taxis are now starting to join the fleet.  If you look at the natural replacement pattern of the industry, it is 

going to be delivering a significant number of these taxis.  We have huge investment support available both 

from the Government and from TfL, something like £67 million of funding, to help taxi drivers take up these 

vehicles.  We have worked with the Treasury to address one of the big potential barriers around this, which is 

around the VED surcharge for taxi drivers, and that will no longer apply from April 2019. 

 

As a result, what we expect to see, especially as we get the infrastructure on the street that is needed in terms 

of rapid charging, is an accelerated uptake of these vehicles. The experience we have had with new models of 

taxi coming in in the past has been very much that you have an initial quite small group of people who are the 

early adopters and then word spreads through the industry very quickly if it is successful.  We have worked very 

closely with the Licensed Taxi Drivers Association (LTDA) and Steve McNamara [General Secretary, LTDA], 

whom I am sure many of you know, is a real evangelist for this vehicle and thinks it is an essential part of the 

trade’s offer to London.  They are very actively getting behind this. 

 

That all said, we think that that leaves us in a relatively positive position, but we recognise that this is a very 

challenging target.  Maybe this goes back a little bit to what Caroline [Pidgeon MBE AM] was saying about 

how we are not just putting in some targets which we can easily achieve.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  I cannot see a target because it says, “Not applicable 2017/18”.  We are at 10 now.  It 

was introduced in January.  How many might we anticipate being adopted by the end of December 2018 or, if 

Page 22



 

your targets run from April to March 2017/18, how many could we expect to see achieved by the end of the 

2018/19 year?  I just cannot agree that this is an amber red unless I have those figures.  I do not know what 

the previous trajectory was when we moved from the CX 4 to the TX 5 and now we are moving on to the TX 6.  

I do not have those figures in front of me and that is what I want to know.  What does success look like?  If it is 

still 10 by the end of December 2018, I am probably saying that that is not success.  You are probably saying it 

is not success.  How am I going to tell between now and then whether we are on track to anything? 

 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), Greater London 

Authority):  As I understand it, there are now over 100 of these taxis in the fleet and therefore you will start 

to see that that pace of uptake moving very quickly.  I take your point around trajectories and understanding 

that.  That is something I am going to have to take away because I need to talk to other people to confirm 

what we can say around that. 

 

What I can say is that we are focusing very much on the delivery of this target.  We will be closely monitoring 

the actual uptake and will be making sure we have the right mix of incentives in place to ensure that we do get 

the delivery of the taxis as needed.  I have already talked about some of the financial incentives that we are 

putting in place, but we are considering what other steps can be taken, including around new taxi ranks and 

other interventions, which are going to really encourage taxi drivers to take up these vehicles as quickly as 

possible. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  That is why I would also like to see something in there about the number of taxi-rank 

charging points as well because, as we drive the number of taxi drivers towards the uptake on the taxis at a 

level that is going to be meaningful in terms of air quality, we need to see alongside that the number of 

charging points for the taxis going up as well.  Surely that should be part of that target, too. 

 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), Greater London 

Authority):  Yes.  It is difficult for you guys to do this as an iterative process for each of these, but, as officers, 

we are very open to this kind of feedback.  Sometimes, I imagine, we work very closely with the Mayor’s Office 

to provide this information and there is a certain level of assumed knowledge, but if there is additional 

information or background that is required, we are always happy to provide that.  If there are queries you might 

have about these which might not be appropriate to capture in the dashboard but you just want some 

clarification on, either me or my team would be always happy to talk you through them in more detail as well. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:   Just for us, though, my problem is that I also want it to be transparent to anybody who 

has just turned up today and who is sitting here in the hall so that they can have an understanding.  It is about 

transparency.  Yes, I can always write to you and your team, but that does not necessarily apply to everybody 

else who is listening on the webcast or who is here in this hall.  It is really important that we are able to do our 

work and that other people outside of the building are able to have almost an instant understanding of what is 

going on with these KPIs.  They are telling us whether we are on track for improving London’s air quality, 

which, as the Mayor has said on several occasions and we agree with - and obviously I very strongly agree with, 

having Putney High Street in my constituency, as you know - that we have to do something about something 

that is illegal and toxic making us ill and killing people.  That is why it is so important.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Just following up on the taxi point, the other thing that you are not taking into 

account is that there have been problems with the manufacturer of the new taxi.  There have been problems 

with the meter and problems with sensors.  They have had to recall some of them.  If you have problems like 

Page 23



 

that, then surely your indicator must be on red because there may well be future problems, as with any new 

vehicle.  There often are teething problems and they may have to have recalls.  That needs to be reflected in 

this target and it absolutely does need to be red. 

 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), Greater London 

Authority):  I am happy to add additional information on that in there.  Part of the reason is that we feel, 

having spoken to the manufacturer, that a lot of those issues have been addressed and we have quite a lot of 

confidence in their ability to do so.  We do not see that as a major risk to the long-term delivery of this target.  

That said, it is a helpful point and I am happy to add that in. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  It is a huge risk. 

 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), Greater London 

Authority):  If I may just very quickly, Assembly Member Cooper raised a point around rapid-charge points.  

You are exactly right.  That is a very critical part of the delivery of this.  I am happy to add those in. 

 

In terms of the glide path for those, you will have seen the Mayor announce that he has achieved his first 

target for those, which is 100 rapid-charge points in, and there are other targets, 150 by the end of the year 

and further ones after that, which we can reflect in this. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Before we move on to the next point, just while we are on the question of 

zero-emission taxis, you do not have a target.  Assembly Member Cooper picked this up.  Your 2020 target is 

set.  Your Q3 update is set.  Your rating is there.  There could be a very good reason why sitting at 10 when 

you have a target of 9,000 to hit within two years does not cause you to panic, but to me that is so far off the 

chart that it is deep red.  Would it not be a good idea for us to have mile markers between now and 2020 as to 

why you think you can still hit that target?  The point of KPIs, surely, is to track your progress towards 

achieving your target.  If you are not setting a target for any year and it just sits there as, “Not Applicable”, you 

can keep coming back and reassuring us that it is going to be fine, and then suddenly it is not because we will 

get to 2020 and you are sitting on 10 taxis.  Why are there no targets? 

 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), Greater London 

Authority):  I have two points on that.  First of all, as I set out, we are very closely monitoring this and, as you 

will see from the way we set this and the fact is an amber red, we are by no means resting on our laurels or just 

assuming this is going to happen. 

 

In terms of interim targets, as I set out, our approach to this has been reflecting what the Mayor’s target has 

been and then setting that out.  In terms of interim targets, I would have to take that away and talk to 

colleagues at TfL and provide an answer. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Our job is to hold the Mayor accountable -- 

 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), Greater London 

Authority):  Of course. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  -- for his policies and his delivery.  It is conceivable that the Mayor just goes 

along and, “It is going to be fine”, and then the 2020 election comes and goes, he loses and it is not fine but is 

Page 24



 

disastrously bad and it is not his problem anymore because he has gone.  Do you see the problem?  For us 

scrutinising the Mayor’s output, to not have anything by which to measure against apart from targets that are 

set off into the future is not very satisfactory, is it? 

 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), Greater London 

Authority):  I would say to that that I am happy to take away the point and we can get back to you and look 

at updating the dashboard once I have spoken to colleagues at TfL.  In terms of the time periods you are 

talking about, these are not 2050 targets.  This is about 2020.  This is a period of the Mayor’s mayoralty when 

he will be setting out what he can achieve and that is captured on this dashboard. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Yes, but there needs to be a measure of progress between now and then.  

There is an election in 2020.  As I said earlier on, the Mayor may believe he has that in the bag already, but 

that may not be the case and he actually does have to deliver.  These things are not just here to look pretty.  

There is a reason behind them. 

 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), Greater London 

Authority):  If you do not mind, I will take that one away. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  I just wanted to come to the whole point about - we have focused on buses or taxis - the 

overall clean-up of both NOx and particulate material (PM) in London’s air.  There is going to be a ramping up.  

We have the Toxicity Charge (T-Charge) in at the moment.  We have the ULEZ coming in from April 2019 in 

the central section and then it is going to be expanded out. 

 

I have two questions.  One is: what are we going to do if the T-Charge followed by the smaller and then the 

larger ULEZ proves to be insufficient?  Is there some adjustment and how are we monitoring our trajectory on 

that route? 

 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), Greater London 

Authority):  That is a very interesting challenge.  To start with, in terms of our understanding of progress, one 

of the measures we have used in these dashboards is around emissions and therefore we are using our 

atmospheric emissions inventory.  What we are also trying to do is slightly more difficult to use but I guess it is 

the proof in the pudding.  It is about the actual concentrations.  It is about the actual experienced air quality, 

which results also in whether there is a legal breach or not. 

 

What we are doing is we are working with C40 [Cities] to expand the current monitoring network that we have 

using a sensor programme.  Further announcements will be made about that in due course, but it will also 

combine an element of mobile monitoring as well.  We expect to be able to capture a far larger proportion of 

the city than we ever have been able to previously.  This will not be a model; this will be actual real-world 

monitoring.  We hope to have that in place in time for the ULEZ in central London and to use that as a 

mechanism to monitor the real-world performance and what happens in terms of concentrations there that 

people breathe. 

 

We will then use that as a tool to optimise which package of measures we have in place.  One of the things that 

we have said in the London Environment Strategy is that we will keep the combination of measures that we 

have under review because the Mayor is totally committed to addressing and improving air quality, but also 

because of the legal need to be taking action as quickly as we possibly can. 

Page 25



 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  You do have some information that comes from the London Air Quality Network (LAQN) 

and the current selection of air quality monitoring boxes around the city.  Then that has been supplemented by 

people using hand-held NOx monitors and also people installing diffusion tubes. 

 

How much are you able to use that information before this new upgraded sensor information and mobile 

information comes in?  Is that useful at this point? 

 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), Greater London 

Authority):  Yes, absolutely.  The LAQN, which is a combination of borough monitoring stations and also 

some sites paid for by TfL and the GLA, has been absolutely integral in terms of shaping and informing our 

policies, including in terms of developing proposals for the T-Charge and the ULEZ, as well as all of the things 

like the low-emission bus zone programme.  Absolutely, we use that data. 

 

What we are trying to get is a far better disaggregation and understanding about what is happening in real 

time, and that will help us strengthen our suite of policies in the future and to make sure they are delivering 

and report back to you on what they are delivering in that transparent way that you rightly want. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Presumably, that information from the LAQN and those air quality monitoring boxes is 

what has also driven the decisions about the low-emission neighbourhoods and the zero-emission 

neighbourhoods.  For example, I see that the 10 most polluted locations should be transformed into       low-

emission neighbourhoods, of which you are saying that four out of five are on track for delivery.  That means 

that you are at 80%. 

 

One is not on track and, again, that is down as an amber green.  Surely, that is just purely an amber.  What are 

we going to do about that if that is one of the most polluting areas where Londoners are going to continue to 

suffer?  To me, we cannot just be monitoring what you are doing about the buses, the taxis, the T-Charge and 

the ULEZ.  We also need to be worried about those hotspots, the difficult areas that are beyond even the 

expanded ULEZ boundaries.  Therefore, what is going to happen if we have a target here that is at only 80%? 

 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), Greater London 

Authority):  That is a fair point.  The reason why it is still an amber green is because the issue that we had in 

relation to Ilford, which is the location of that low-emission neighbourhood, has been resolved. 

 

The challenge was that we had an intersection between the North Circular and two borough-controlled 

A roads.  It is a very complicated site.  There are still levels of human exposure which were concerning, which is 

why we wanted to tackle the pollution levels there and have provided funding to do so.  There is a whole range 

of interventions planned to encourage walking and cycling, to provide shielding and to provide extra space for 

pedestrians and cyclists further away from the road.  As you will understand, the nature of that location was 

particularly complicated and it took longer than we had anticipated to get agreement between TfL and the 

local borough in terms of the type of actions we wanted to do.  We have managed to secure agreement from 

TfL to roll over various bits of funding that we will need to deliver the programme. 

 

Now that we are getting that agreement in place, we will be delivering the low-emission neighbourhood as 

originally billed.  It is just going to take us slightly longer to do it.  You are still going to get the same outcome; 

Page 26



 

it is just going to take longer, which is why we made the judgement around an amber green.  However, it is 

helpful feedback and we will take that into account. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  That brings me on finally and very neatly to my final question, which is: what are we 

going to do in terms of transferring the learning that we have achieved from where we have already seen the 

big drops? 

 

For example, I am going to refer to Putney High Street, where, if we look at what happened in terms of the 

breaches prior to where we are now, the council - and I know not everyone is happy about the idea of 

smoothing congestion and smoothing traffic flow - undertook to make some serious changes to loading 

arrangements, which did reduce the number of breaches, not to zero but from about 1,600 to 400, still 

dreadful.  Then, with the low-emission buses all being put onto the routes, it dropped from 400 down to the 

incredibly low levels that we have seen this year, although there are still days when the air quality is still well 

over the 40 micrograms per cubic metre that we would hope to be below permanently. 

 

What learning are we able to transfer?  I am just using that because that is in my backyard and therefore I know 

the detail of what has happened there.  Are there things that would enable us to, for example, move forward 

more quickly?  You have just described a very complex arrangement.  I would be surprised if there is a road 

anywhere in London that does not have complexity of some description, some possibly more difficult.  Surely 

that is going to drive us forward more quickly if we can use that learning. 

 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), Greater London 

Authority):  That is a really powerful point and the example about why Putney was such a success is because 

of that partnership model with City Hall, TfL and, crucially, the borough playing a role.  Also, as you probably 

know, the local community itself has really been in the vanguard of making some of those improvements. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Yes, the Putney Society were the first people out there with the diffusion tubes up, 

making an almighty fuss, and I pay tribute to them very regularly. 

 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), Greater London 

Authority):  Absolutely, yes.  We are learning from that.  We are doing that in two ways.  First of all, there is a 

framework of action which City Hall helps co-ordinate and helps the boroughs do, which is called the London 

Local Air Quality Management Framework.  It is a statutory framework of reporting and action linked into areas 

which have been declared Air Quality Management Areas.  What we are doing is we are looking at how we can 

strengthen some of the policy proposals that are included in that to further encourage borough co-operation 

with TfL and City Hall. 

 

Crucially, to make that really happen, what we then need is some funding to help and that is why we are going 

to be trying to align the next round of the Mayor’s Air Quality Fund to help deliver some of those really 

evidence-led, high-impact interventions.  You gave a really good example around what we can do in terms of 

deliveries and servicing activity.  It is not just about what the Mayor can do through the bus fleet or the taxi 

fleet.  Sometimes local changes are equally important.  The answer to addressing air pollution is that we need a 

combination of all of those kinds of measures. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Personally, I would quite like to see a KPI around that area as well, just because it is so 

complex and critical, but that is the end of my questions.  Thank you, Chairman. 

Page 27



 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Thank you very much.  All right.  Elliot, you can take a breath. 

 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), Greater London 

Authority):  Thank you. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  We are going to move on and David is now in the hot seat.  We are going to 

talk about housing.   

 

Sian Berry AM:  Thank you very much.  If I can start asking about the timing of the housing KPIs and things, I 

know Assembly Member Bacon said earlier on that we are not here to just beat you up about the fact that it 

has taken so long to get there, but from what I understand of what you said earlier on, the information that 

goes towards these KPIs, particularly the affordable housing information, you said was already being used in 

quite a robust performance framework anyway.  Therefore, why would it take so long for the Mayor to decide 

to put into his KPIs something that you were already collecting and using? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  The question for housing has been what the sensible KPIs are because we could have a 

very wide range of KPIs.  In the end, what we have done is we have tried to edit those back to headlines.  What 

we have done is we have said that the absolutely critical KPI is something around affordable housing delivery.  

It is the Mayor’s top priority.  It is where we have funding.  It is where we have a very direct responsibility and 

where you can see the Mayor’s inputs deliver outputs.  Therefore, clearly, affordable housing gets one in its 

own right. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Before we get into the nitty-gritty of what there is, that is really my point.  In the Housing 

Committee, we have been asking for the year-by-year targets on housing delivery since the announcement of 

the funding in November 2016 and we had to wait not until these came out but until the Housing Strategy 

came out in autumn of 2017 to even see a year-by-year delivery plan, and that is what is there in the KPIs 

here.  The delivery of the starts of affordable housing under the funding programme is there now, but you have 

said earlier on that you were keeping a close eye on this already and there was lots of data going back and 

forth between you and the Mayor.  Therefore, yes, just say why this is not one of the ones that will have 

delayed things, is it? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  Sorry, I misunderstood your question.  Let me see if I understand it correctly now.  If the 

question is what are those KPI targets over a series of years, in other words -- 

 

Sian Berry AM:  No, it is towards a question we will ask David later on about delays.  Sorry, I put this off from 

when we were discussing delays and therefore it is an initial question, really, but it is this.  The information that 

is in these housing KPIs you said you were using quite robustly anyway and they are not what has caused the 

delay; then it has not taken time to reach the decision on these. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  No, and we have been reporting to the Assembly on a regular basis and publishing data 

on a regular basis about where we are on starts.  If we take affordable housing, there has never been a time 

Page 28



 

when I have been responsible for the housing programme in London and we have not had a very clear target to 

deliver, whether it is either starts or completions for a particular year or a particular number of years ahead. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  It took us ages to get hold of a year-by-year delivery plan for the 90,000.  The 90,000 was 

announced in November 2016 and it took a very long time to get the year-by-year delivery stats. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  Indeed, and I appreciate that.  The reason for that is not that we were holding back 

information that we had.  It is that this was a new programme with a very challenging target of 90,000 starts by 

2021, and until we had gone out and seen what partners were able to get into that new programme, it was 

going to be very difficult for us to assemble a schedule over those years that had credibility.  We could have 

taken a notional split and said, “We will just deliver the same number each year to add up to the total”, but 

that would never have been credible.  Really it was a question of how long it is going to take us to negotiate 

those packages of funding with individual providers, bearing in mind that we have nearly 60.  Until we had that 

data back, it was very difficult to settle on the ranges that we now have.  It was not the case that we had very 

clear, definite targets and were just holding it back.  It is that for most of those years we did not have targets 

because we had not done that negotiation with partners. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Just to stick to this particular KPI for a little, we finally got this target of 12,500 to 16,500 

affordable home starts in the first year.  Throughout the year, we have been asking how many you have done 

so far almost every time the Housing Committee came forwards, and it was very low.  At the moment, 

according to the Q3 report that I am looking at here, you were up to 4,125 and then the outturn at the end of 

Q4, which we now know and which is not in this report, was 12,526.  Your target was 12,500, which you set in 

the autumn, basically, during Q3. 

 

How are we to use that to hold you to account if you basically set it when you knew what the answer was 

going to be? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  I do not think we did know what the answer was going to be.  We knew what the target 

range was going to be when we gave it to you and, as you say, it was 12,500 to 16,500.  All I can do is repeat 

the point, really, that because it was a new programme and we were assembling through a process of 

discussion and negotiation with partners what they could commit to in terms of firm sites, which was important 

for the first-year target, and then a mixture of a firm and indicative programme, it would be impossible, frankly, 

to have set out a trajectory for where those starts would lie. 

 

I know that there have been some raised eyebrows about how we managed to get from the Q3 starts report to, 

amazingly, something just over 12,500 in one quarter. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Actually, it was a bit more than that.  You did it in a month.  After 11 

months, you were nowhere near your target. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  No, that is true. 

 

Page 29



 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  By month 12, you had managed to deliver what you had done in the 

previous 11 months in one jump. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  There were lots of spades going in the ground. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes.  Can you explain to us what happened in that final month?  We have the charts here of 

what is being reported each quarter, and it is not just this year.  Every single year, the final quarter has had the 

vast majority of home starts.  Is it that builders are being very busy in the autumn or is that something else that 

is causing that? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  Again, it is a combination of factors.  One is that, as is the case with any new 

programme, it is always going to be backloaded and, certainly in the first year or two, that is more likely to be 

the case.  One of the reasons, as you will probably be familiar with, we are moving from making completions of 

homes our key target to starts is to try to move away from this slightly eccentric position at the yearend when 

everything comes in, literally sometimes in the last few weeks, but -- 

 

Sian Berry AM:  To be fair, this seems to be -- 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  -- it did not work -- 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  How did that work out, then?  What you have just described is exactly what 

happened. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  This is exactly the same position as for starts, yes.  We are getting the same thing with starts, 

then. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  Yes, but that is why I just want to make the other point, which is the really key one, 

which is that because this was a new programme and because, as I have mentioned, we were negotiating a 

whole series of large new contracts, including these big eight new strategic partnering contracts with major 

providers, it took a considerable time to get those contracts legal and signed up.  Until the contracts were 

signed, it was impossible for providers to log their starts.  What effectively happened as we went through the 

year is we were agreeing targets. 

 

Let me give you an example.  London & Quadrant (L&Q), which is the biggest provider of new affordable 

housing in London, agreed to extend its programme over the period of years we are talking about from around 

6,000 properties to 12,000.  It agreed in return for a strategic partnering contract with us to double its 

programme.  That was fantastic news.  However, it took a considerable period of time to get that contract 

agreed, signed and logged.  Until it was logged and agreed, it was impossible for any of those partners to put 

their starts onto our system.  Effectively, what was happening was starts were coming through but it was not 

possible to log them onto our system because the contracts were not in place.  That is why we found, as we got 

to the yearend, I was cajoling my team to make sure that these contracts were signed and we could get an 

accurate figure.  We did not get it in all cases until very close to the yearend. 

 

Page 30



 

Sian Berry AM:  You are saying that when we get these figures each quarter, they are coming through as a 

result of them being logged on your system?  They do not signify the start of the building; they signify the 

logging of the start that may have occurred several months before? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  That was the case in this year because it was a new programme that was beginning.  This 

should not be the case in future because we now have those contracts in place.  We can vary those contracts 

and additional schemes can come in, but it should be the case going forward that, as soon as a start is a start 

on site, it will be logged by the partner.  I do not expect to see quite such a lumpy profile going forward.  It will 

not be entirely smooth, but we will not get this problem that we had in the first year when starts were not 

being logged because we did not have contracts locked down. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  To be fair, I am looking at the profile through many previous years and previous Mayors and 

there has always been a lump at the end of the year.  Q4 has always been the highest quarter.  You think you 

might have got over that now and we will see Q1 for this year more even? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  In many previous years, the key target has been completions rather than starts and 

completions always brings more of an emphasis on the yearend -- 

 

Sian Berry AM:  No, I am looking at starts data.  I am looking at starts data, which also seems to suffer from 

this problem. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  All right, yes.  We are doing everything we can to try to avoid that.  I am not going to sit 

here and say, “There will be an absolutely smooth line and there will be no yearend lumps”, because, clearly, 

we are measured on yearend targets and we are all very keen to make sure that we deliver, which does mean 

that there is more emphasis, which means I am sure there will continue to be a blip.  It is also the case that not 

just us but most of our partners also operate to 31 March yearends and therefore there is always a budget 

pressure at that point.  However, by focusing on starts rather than completions, it should be easier.  We are 

doing everything we can to try to ease that trajectory and not have this slightly crazy, eccentric yearend 

position.  It is not something I like and it is not something the team likes and I know it is not something you are 

particularly fond of, either. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes.  This is the question about whether this is the right KPI.  The other question is: what 

defines a start on site?  As far as we can tell, this is when planning permission is activated.  I have experienced 

this in my own area and I think we are all quite aware of people whose planning permissions are about to lapse 

and who dig a little bit or knock down a bit of a building or put up some hoardings - although that should not 

really count - to activate their planning permission so as not to lose the planning permission.  It does not 

necessarily mean they are intending to build what they have permission for.  Quite often, they are just trying to 

preserve the old one so that they can apply for some sort of amended permission and do it later.  That is still 

the definition of a “start”, though, is not, that you are counting? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  No, not really.  Our definition of a “start” is not the same as a planning definition of a 

Page 31



 

“start”.  I am happy to send you the detail of it, Sian, if that would be helpful or send it through to the 

Committee. 

 

A start on site is triggered by a definition that is contained in the Affordable Housing Capital Funding Guide 

and it needs to comprise a number of things: a legitimate planning consent, and a building contractor has to 

take possession of the site.  That is number one.  The registered provider and the building contractor have both 

signed and dated the building contract.  That is number two.  And number three: the start-on-site works have 

actually commenced.  By that, we have a range of definitions of what those contracted start-on-site works 

comprise.  It can mean a whole series of things from beginning work on foundations, the laying of underground 

pipes or mains or other sorts of infrastructure, constructing or laying out roads or, in some cases, demolitions 

of existing properties or service diversions.  This is not just, “We have a planning consent and someone has put 

a spade in the ground”.  There are a series of events that have to take place before we will register a start on 

site. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  That is useful to know.  The report we have here has three targets and that is the one target 

that relates to affordable housing.  There are also six workstreams and one of the workstreams that you have, 

PR3, is around housing delivery more broadly.  The target we just described was about the delivery of homes 

under the Mayor’s funding programme only and PR3 has wider things that are in the Strategy, things like the 

viability work that is going on to affect developments more widely, and then the London Plan. 

 

Do you not think there should be a target, a proper KPI, to measure the Mayor’s achievements more broadly in 

terms of affordable housing?  I know that within the Housing Strategy there is an outcome indicator, which is 

an overall increase in the stock of social housing, a net increase in how much social housing there is.  Do you 

not think there should be something in these targets to reflect that, when the Mayor has plenty of levers and 

we need to be measuring how well he is pulling them? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  Yes.  That is a fair challenge and it is something that we have given some thought to 

already in the team. 

 

The key point under workstream 3, I guess, is that if we are going to see an increase in affordable housing, 

then, arguably, we need to see an increase in affordable housing supply across the piece.  That is not only a 

good thing because we need more of all kinds of housing, particularly at the non-luxury end but, secondly, of 

course, because most affordable housing is delivered as part of wider 10-year housing projects.  Therefore, on 

every level, it is important and that is why the Housing Strategy deals with this.  It is why the draft London Plan 

is so important.  There are, or will be, some KPIs around London Plan implementation that will help there as 

well. 

 

As I say, because we are effectively starting out on a new era of KPIs and performance management with this 

administration, as we heard earlier, we were keen to try to keep the KPIs and targets nailed down to a few 

absolutely key essentials: affordable housing delivery, rough sleeping and homelessness, and a very major new 

initiative that this Mayor has begun, which of course is the landlord database. 

 

However, I take your point, Sian, and it will be very useful to get the Assembly’s feedback on whether we need 

a richer suite of indicators. 

 

Page 32



 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes, say something around planning because that is such an important part of the work in 

this building - well, not necessarily in this building anymore - and that needs to be measured.  In terms of the 

second KPI in housing, the number of renters empowered to check the Mayor’s rogue landlord and letting 

agent checker, according to a press release this morning from the Mayor this is done.  All the boroughs are in 

this.  This is far too easy a KPI.  Surely, we need to replace it.  We have done it already. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  I think what you meant to say is that we have been far too successful, but -- 

 

Sian Berry AM:  It did not look that hard in the first place, to be honest, in terms of a KPI. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  Yes.  Because this is a completely new initiative, it was quite difficult to know where to 

pitch a KPI or a target.  We said 500,000 by March 2018 and then 1.5 million by 2020, and we got to both of 

those faster than we expected.  As you rightly say, this morning the Mayor has confirmed that every single 

London borough is now signed up, which is terrifically good news. 

 

What I would say is that that means that we now need to give some consideration to what we do with these 

KPIs and whether we change them, which we will obviously need to.  I would just add, though, that this has 

been an astonishingly difficult and complicated project to get underway from a standing start.  Managing data 

protection, gathering all the information, getting all the boroughs on board and other agencies has been a 

major piece of work.  Certainly if you compare and contrast what London government has managed to do with 

this landlord database with - dare I say it - central Government’s efforts in this respect, we are very well ahead 

of the curve.  I take your point that this maybe did not look challenging enough, but I personally feel that it 

has been a big success story and I am quite pleased with the progress we have made. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Would you be willing to take feedback from either this Committee or the Housing Committee 

or both on replacement KPIs and maybe additional ones here? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  Definitely, yes, please.  That would be helpful. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  How are these KPIs used on a day-to-day basis in terms of the Directorate? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  They are really quite fundamental.  As I was suggesting earlier on at the beginning of 

the session, if we take the key affordable housing KPIs, these are absolutely locked into the DNA of my 

Directorate.  The teams are focused on not just the headline KPIs but the quarterly targets and expectations 

and performance management review mechanisms that sit behind them.  It is a very operational environment.  

It is very performance-driven.  Everyone knows exactly what is expected of them.  If you came and spend a day 

or two with us in the team, you would find that there is a very clear focus on delivery and a very clear 

understanding of what is expected.  I would say that these run pretty seamlessly through the Directorate. 

 

It is also the case, I would say, that James Murray as the Deputy Mayor [for Housing and Residential 

Development] responsible is also, I can promise you, all over these statistics and expectations. He meets with 

us on a monthly basis to review them.  Indeed, my own management team meets every month separately to 

Page 33



 

review progress against targets, to look at risk registers and to address any issues that we need to mitigate 

those risks. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Presumably, you look at more than just these three targets.  There are targets within each of 

the workstreams that are measurable, too, on an internal basis? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  Yes.  To give you just one or two quick examples, the Housing Zones programme is 

perhaps a good one where there is no headline corporate KPI, although we have a target of 90,000 starts 

against the Housing Zones programme.  The Housing Zones initiative is something that is monitored and 

managed, again, on a monthly basis.  It is reported through to the Deputy Mayor.  That is quite a good 

example. 

 

Another one is GLA Land and how we are doing with the various strategic land projects.  Now, again, we do not 

have a separate headline corporate KPI on that, partly because nearly all of the strategic land projects were 

commissioned and contracted in the previous administration rather the new one, but each one of those major 

projects has a project line and a set of targets and deadlines.  We, again, have a strategic land review group 

that reports through to the Deputy Mayor [for Housing and Residential Development]. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Is there any reason why we cannot see those lower-down targets and achievements?  It is the 

sort of thing we ask about in Mayor’s Questions (MQs) but guessing the right MQ and asking it at the right 

time it is not always possible. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  No, there is nothing mentioned that I would not be happy to share with the Assembly 

Members and the relevant Committee. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  OK.  We will follow up on that.  Sorry, I am trying not to take too much time.  I want to ask 

about the letter that you sent about affordable housing statistics and the fact that rather than publishing a 

monthly outturn of starts and completions, which used to come through about three weeks after the end of 

each month, you are going to switch not to quarterly - and you were also informing the Budget Monitoring 

Sub-Committee quarterly - but away from that to a six-monthly report.  November was going to be the next 

one.  Presumably, that is Q1 and Q2 reported in November and then, six weeks after the end of the year, Q3 

and Q4. 

 

Can you explain that?  As far as I can tell, it is because you are trying to make them into actual statistics, but 

can you explain that and whether or not we will still get quarterly updates as part of the KPI review? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  This relates to the UK Government’s Use of Statistics Code of Practice and the 

commitment that the Mayor made - I think, David [Bellamy], this was an election manifesto commitment, if I 

am not mistaken - that the GLA should not only sign up to that Code of Practice but also make sure it is 

implemented.  That code of practice means that we should publish our statistics in a way that complements 

and matches the way the Government publishes its own statistics and the way that the Government not only 

collects statistics but then validates those before they are published.  The Government, as you may know, has 

moved to biannual reporting of its affordable housing performance and therefore, to remain consistent with 

Page 34



 

that and within the UK Use of Statistics Code of Practice, we should do the same.  That was the reason for 

writing to the Chairman of the Committee. 

 

I know that there was an exchange last week at Mayor’s Question Time and the Mayor, who was not briefed in 

detail on this, undertook to look at it and respond, which we duly will.  I have not had a chance to discuss that 

with the Mayor or the Mayor’s Office yet. We will be doing so and I am sure you will be getting a clarification in 

due course. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  We would all want to have actual statistics and properly verified data coming through and 

that is probably a good thing if we can compare with other regions and all of the benefits that there are. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  Correct. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  However, in terms of monitoring these KPIs by the Budget Monitoring Sub-Committee, 

would we still be able to get the key numbers that we need to monitor you, even with caveats that these are 

not yet statistics and they may change?  The Government does sometimes put out numbers that are not yet 

statistics with those warnings. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  Yes, and we will continue to collect those on that basis.  We are not going to wait until 

six months elapses before we know what is going on with performance.  Therefore, yes, but it will not be 

accredited at official statistics level. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Can you still update the London Development Database spreadsheet that gets put out once a 

month on a monthly basis? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  That is an interesting question and I am not sure I know the answer.  I do not know how 

that sits against the Code of Practice but -- 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes.  We all have and we know those -- 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  Do you know, Tim? 

 

Tim Somerville (Corporate Governance Manager, Greater London Authority):  I know in general that 

the performance team - my team - has been having discussions with the Intelligence team that is leading on 

the work to sign us up to the Code of Statistics about how we manage all this performance information and 

whether it all needs to be classed as official statistics, in which case it is problematic, or whether it is 

management information, in which case a different regime applies and we can keep publishing things as quickly 

as possible.  We are working through those issues at the moment. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Those of us who use the London Development Database output regularly were well aware of 

its limitations.  It is the latest that you have from councils and their planning departments and it is not always 

completely -- 

Page 35



 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  There is always a lag. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  It is really obvious that some boroughs have up-to-date data and some are older and there 

are caveats there, but it is a very useful tool nevertheless as live data rather than statistics. 

 

There is one final question on the rough-sleeping work.  The KPI there is defined as the percentage who are 

supported by mayoral programmes who exit rough sleeping.  That target is going quite well at the moment.  As 

the work progresses and as the work gets more targeted towards groups with higher needs, is there a danger 

that that is going to slip back but in a way that is understandable?  Is that the right target, again, to be 

measuring things by? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Head of Paid Service and Executive Director of Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority):  To be honest, it is a better target than we had in the last administration.  Exiting rough 

sleeping is what we are looking to do, rather than, for instance, not sleeping out for a second night.  You are 

right that last year’s figure of 87% exiting rough sleeping was encouraging. 

 

You are also right, though, that, again, as one drills down, you can see that the complexities of particular 

groups of rough sleepers possibly need unpacking and looking at in terms of KPIs.  That is reflected in the 

range we have now.  We have something close now to 20 separate funding streams and contracts with different 

organisations.  At first glance, that looks incredibly complicated.  Why do we need all of these?  The answer is 

largely because there are so many specific groups with specific needs and targeting those with specific 

programmes and projects is really important. 

 

It is a really good point to make and it is something that, again, I would be happy to take away and discuss with 

the team and discuss further with the Assembly. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Thank you. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  OK.  I would like to welcome the Mayor’s Chief of Staff, David Bellamy, who 

has arrived with commendably good timing because we are now up to your section.   

 

Susan Hall AM:  Mr Bellamy, I am new to this Committee and I have to say that I am deeply shocked by the 

lack of KPIs and the amount of time that it has taken to put them in place.  Exactly why has it taken two years 

to put these in place? 

 

David Bellamy (Mayor’s Chief of Staff):  Firstly, apologies to the Committee that I was not able to be here 

for the start of the discussion and the Chairman knows the nature of my prior external commitment.  I hope 

that you will stop me if I start duplicating what colleagues have said in my absence. 

 

We have discussed this previously in the Committee before you joined, Assembly Member, and the first thing I 

would say is that there is unanimity of view, I believe, between Members of the Committee and the Mayor’s 

Office and officers involved in this of the importance of getting these into place, and it is something we all 

want to see happen.  It is also something that we want to see is as effective as possible, not just doing it for 

the sake of doing it so that we can say we have done it, but because we need to use this to both ensure 

Page 36



 

effective delivery and also ensure that that can be held to account by the Mayor’s Office, by the Assembly and 

by members of the public. 

 

In terms of what we have been trying to do, we have been trying to ensure that the approach we are taking 

works as a methodology before we roll it out more widely, and I am sure that you will have gone through in 

detail, while I was not here, some of the aspects of that and the challenges of that.  We also have to ensure 

that the targets and so forth we are setting are aligned with the Mayor’s strategies and, of course, they are 

only now reaching the point of being at their final stages.  That has required a significant amount of officer 

time to work on the strategies.  Hopefully, now, that will free a bit more officer time to really focus on the 

delivery and the measures. 

 

I guess the other thing I would say is that we are going here into a level of detail and a level of focus that I do 

not believe the GLA has before.  It is both somewhat of a culture change for the organisation, which we will 

need to manage through, and also something that will require resource to do that.  That is why after the then 

HoPS’s consultation with the Mayor around the recent restructure of the Finance and Governance teams, the 

Mayor’s response was that we needed to bring additional resource into this area in order that we can make 

more progress because the Mayor is keen to see us do that. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I do not understand that because, underlying all of these KPIs, you have lots of other 

information that you could take it out from.  Do you think two years is an acceptable time, halfway through 

this administration? 

 

David Bellamy (Mayor’s Chief of Staff):  I understand the reasons for why we are where we are.  I 

absolutely would like us to be further on and, while I know that we are a lot further on in our progress than 

previous administrations in this regard, that does not mean that that is something I am comfortable about.  

That is why the Mayor has asked for more resource to be put into this so that we can speed up progress. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  We have gone through some of these KPIs and, quite frankly, I have, again, been astounded 

by constant comments from us and none of us are experts on this.  With respect, you gentlemen are the 

experts.  “Very fair challenge” has been said several times, “Interesting challenge”, “Helpful feedback”, mainly 

because my colleagues have picked out things with the KPIs that are not sufficient.  We are not the experts.  

You are.  It has taken you two years, which is extraordinary, to be able to come up with a set of KPIs and my 

colleagues have pulled lots of these apart or have said there needs to be additional bits to them.  You are the 

experts doing this.  How on earth are we to challenge you if we have no proper performance indicators to 

challenge you with? 

 

David Bellamy (Mayor’s Chief of Staff):  What I would say, obviously not having heard the discussion, is 

that firstly - and I have said this before the Committee on a number of occasions - we really do welcome the 

feedback.  This is definitely a journey.  It is something that we want to get better at.  The scope of the 

ambition here in terms of focusing on outcomes and really trying to be quite clear about how the GLA is driving 

those is something that is new for the organisation.  In that sense, the feedback is very welcome and we will 

get it better. 

 

What I would say also is it is a matter of timelines.  You have been, I know, focused this morning on the 

housing quality performance areas.  We provided the drafts of those to the Committee back in last July and 

therefore it is great to now have your feedback and then we will take account of that. 

Page 37



 

 

Susan Hall AM:  You say it is culture change.  I do not understand that either because Mr Somerville said 

earlier that the Deputy Mayors have dashboards that they absolutely hold to account and they hold to account 

partners.  Quote: “If they give them money, they need to understand the importance of holding them to 

account”, ie the partners.  You must understand the need for us to hold you to account, which takes us back to 

the beginning again.  If that is what you are saying, if the Deputy Mayors have the information they need to 

hold partners to account, why on earth have we not had the information that we need to hold you to account? 

 

David Bellamy (Mayor’s Chief of Staff):  Firstly, in terms of the Deputy Mayors and what they do, the 

projects that the GLA works on, which will be overwhelmingly the things where we are dealing with external 

partners, is published and provided to your Sub-Committee and therefore we absolutely do make that available 

and have done throughout this administration; therefore that is there. 

 

The culture change is about how we bring things together corporately rather than each department and unit 

focusing on things from their perspectives.  It is that bringing it together and it is that aligning with our 

financial monitoring as well, which is something that has not been done before and is something I am very keen 

to see.  That is the path we are going down there and we need to see more of that. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Do you feel this is the final set of KPIs or you do think you will be changing them? 

 

David Bellamy (Mayor’s Chief of Staff):  The first thing is, as I say, I genuinely welcome the Committee’s 

feedback.  Whether that is through the transcript or whether it is through notes the colleagues have taken or 

whether you wish to write, we will look at that.  We absolutely do want to strengthen this.  We do not want, in 

terms of this documentation, to have so much there that we lose focus on the absolutely top priorities for the 

Mayor because this building does generate a lot of information, but, absolutely, we do want to see this develop 

and continually improve.  

 

Tim Somerville (Corporate Governance Manager, Greater London Authority):  If I may Chairman, I 

would not want anyone to think that we had spent two years not doing any performance monitoring.  We have 

an annual budget-setting process and there is plenty of challenge in that process.  All the restructurings that 

come to your Committee, there is a challenge behind each of them in terms of the resources devoted to them.  

The challenge has been to synthesise this into a document.  As I said before, I absolutely take on board your 

points about the delays in that happening and none of us are hiding that it has taken longer than it should 

have done, but there has been constant performance monitoring over the last two years.  All the projects that 

were monitored previously have been monitored and reported to you.   

 

David [Bellamy] has just mentioned something that we alluded to earlier about linking to the financial side.  

This is an attempt to, in a crosscutting way, bring it all in front of you.  It is not as though there has not been 

any; it is how we have described it to you that is changing. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I believe this Committee has been asking for two years of KPIs and you have taken through 

two budgets without any KPIs. 

 

David Bellamy (Mayor’s Chief of Staff):  All the stuff that you have seen today was in place for the 

previous budget cycle.  As I say, drafts of housing and air quality were with you as early as last July [2017].  As 

Page 38



 

we have been doing that, we have been producing it and continuing our usual practice of supplying the project 

monitoring information to the Sub-Committee on a quarterly basis. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  There has been a lack of performance measures, which makes it very difficult for this 

Committee to operate, I would imagine.  I shall be finding out.   

 

While I am at this stage, I am used to looking at RAG performance data, but I am absolutely not used to 

looking at RAG performance data that just says, “The Mayor will not set a target”, “Target not yet set”, “No 

target”, and yet you have delightfully given yourself “green” on all of those.  Obviously, I am missing 

something.  Can you explain that to me? 

 

David Bellamy (Mayor’s Chief of Staff):  I will show you an example and that will probably be the best way 

to explain it. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Yes.  Under “Culture and creative industries”, “Future economy”. It would be PI2.  It would 

be PI1 and PI2(a).  You have, “Target not yet set”, “No target”, “The Mayor will not set a target”.  You must 

have seen these. 

 

David Bellamy (Mayor’s Chief of Staff):  I did and, frankly, it was about three-and-a-half months ago and 

therefore I do not necessarily have my comments at the forefront of my mind.  It does sound like something 

that I raised as well.  It is certainly something that we want to monitor.  I do not know, Tim, if you can 

remember.  Was there a particular reason why we did not set a target at that stage? 

 

Tim Somerville (Corporate Governance Manager, Greater London Authority):  Certainly, setting a 

target for 2020 would be very difficult - just taking the PI2 on the culture dashboard - because we do not have 

the foresight of which grant and funding agreements we are going to enter into.  It does vary from year to 

year.  We do not know what external funding we are going to lever in.  What we are doing with that indicator is 

trying to track it against a baseline to determine our performance. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  How is that a KPI?  I do not understand.  I can see why you want to monitor 

achieving external funding into cultural projects in London and that is fine.  I can see why you might want to 

compare it to the baseline data of the final financial year of the previous administration.  That all makes 

complete sense.  However, if it is not something you can affect particularly, you do not have an objective and 

there is no target output for 2020, then how is it a KPI?  It is just a piece of information, is it not?  It is not a 

KPI. 

 

Tim Somerville (Corporate Governance Manager, Greater London Authority):  We have tried to take a 

more rounded approach here.  This is not just about KPIs for us.  It is about a portfolio of -- 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  The thing that you need to understand from our perspective is that these 

need to be meaningful.  You are monitoring what is happening in this particular area, which is fine, and I do not 

in any way pour cold water on that, but you have given yourself a RAG rating.  What is that against?  What is 

that measured against?  How is that meaningful? 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  You will put that in as your top three.  I do not see how it can even get in there as one of 

three that are being presented to us.  How can we measure performance? 

Page 39



 

 

Tom Middleton (Head of Finance and Governance, Greater London Authority):  I absolutely take that 

point.  We can affect this one because the better our cultural work, the more money we will -- 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  If you can affect it, why is there no target?  I am not in any way decrying the 

fact that you should be looking at this area.  Of course you should and that is perfectly fine, but for KPI reports 

to have any meaning whatsoever, there needs to be a direction of travel.  There needs to be some basis for the 

green RAG rating that you have given yourself, and you are just telling us that there is not. 

 

David Bellamy (Mayor’s Chief of Staff):  What I would say - and I hope this matches what I said when we 

did the meeting three months or so ago with the Culture team to review this and we hope we will see this 

reflected going forwards - is that, firstly, I would agree with the Committee that if you do not have a target set, 

you cannot really give a RAG rating against it.  Clearly, then, there is a subjective view and we should not be 

trying to get into subjective views. 

 

What we would want to see in this area is that, of the opportunities that are available to leverage match 

funding and complimentary funding, the team is doing an effective job of doing that.  The question then is 

how you measure performance against the opportunities that are available.  Then you start seeing how to 

assess the size of those and what your target is and it becomes difficult.  There is probably room for more of a 

discussion with the Culture team to see what ways there are of doing that, but we are trying to say, “Yes, we 

can”, or we can give a range or we can say, “We should look at multiple years of historic data and use that to 

ensure that our performance is keeping up there”.  We need to do that.  I can see the challenges there, but, 

from a management perspective, we need to see that the team are being effective and bringing this money in. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I would agree with that.  As Chief of Staff, it is your responsibility, is it not, to make sure that 

this is all monitored correctly? 

 

David Bellamy (Mayor’s Chief of Staff):  I am quite happy to accept the responsibility for it.  In terms of 

the Mayor’s Office, we absolutely do want to get this stuff right and see it there.  It is a responsibility of 

officers to do that and we try to work with them and provide the best guidance and feedback we can, just as 

the Committee does.  As I say, I have never encountered anything but willingness to try to progress this as 

quickly as we can and get it right. 

 

I am very glad that probably one of the first things David [Lunts] did when taking over as the interim HoPS was 

to accept the Mayor’s response to the consultation about the Finance and Governance team and about the 

need to put more resourcing in to focus on this, and I look forward to those roles being filled as quickly as 

possible in order that we can increase the pace on this activity. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  It looks to me as if there have not been enough questions to officers because, if not, you 

would have asked these questions yourself.  It should not be for us to.  I would have hoped that you would 

have been all over this like a rash, quite frankly. 

 

David Bellamy (Mayor’s Chief of Staff):  We held meetings in February - and probably some slipped into 

March given the budget timescales - with each of the five areas and we did go through and asked questions, 

made comments and gave feedback on all of them.  That absolutely did happen but, of course, that will only 

Page 40



 

get taken into account in future iterations of this.  What you see before you is the same thing we saw at that 

point. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  How confident are you in the accuracy of the reporting? 

 

David Bellamy (Mayor’s Chief of Staff):  In going through it, I saw no reason or evidence that the 

information in it was inaccurate, but, clearly, there is more to do around the format and the way it is presented, 

work on targets and so forth.  As I say, that is the purpose of the incremental process we are going through. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Sorry, could I just intervene briefly on that point?  Just on that particular 

point.  Without wanting to replay the entire meeting that we have had, one of the concerns that it is fair to say 

the Committee has is the interpretation of what constitutes red, amber and green and some of the commentary 

that is justified around it.  The example that we trawled all over was the NOx emissions from buses between 

2016 and 2020, which was given a green rating even though it has achieved less than one third of the target 

halfway through the period.  We had a good discussion about when bus fees are coming up and things like 

that.  That kind of thing needs to be in the report to justify some of the RAG ratings.  I do not want to redo 

that whole debate, but it would be worth reviewing the transcript of that meeting. 

 

David Bellamy (Mayor’s Chief of Staff):  I agree.  That is the sort of thing that I was questioning.  One of 

the challenges sometimes in an area where you are not going to get linear progress through the year is how 

you assess whether you are on track.  The housing starts, which I am sure you talked about, is probably the 

classic example of that.  There are others, but that is one of them.  Absolutely, where it is not apparent about 

the reason for the rating, we do need to find a way of explaining that. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  We are very concerned that you have no major risks to delivery on the air quality targets.  If 

we look at it, and maybe watch some of the meeting back, you will see just why we have concerns. 

 

We also have concerns that there are so many manifesto pledges that have been broken.  It seems absolutely 

vital to me that work within the Assembly goes according to plan and is monitored by all of us, not only us 

looking at what you are doing but by the departments themselves, so that we have a clear vision of what is 

going on.  Clearly, there are figures underneath because you are running departments.  There must be figures 

underneath.  As I repeat, if the Deputy Mayors are managing to hold partners to account, it is absolutely vital 

that we are able to hold you to account. 

 

Therefore, at the next meeting - and I do hope we have more on KPIs, Chairman - I do hope we have a more 

meaningful question-and-answer in that we will not just constantly hear, “It is a fair challenge”, because some 

of these things really do need to be set right. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  That is a point, rather than a question.  Given the time, all of us here have 

group meetings to go to very quickly.  Well, not quite all of us. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  I have lunch waiting. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Some of us are lucky enough to have lunch waiting. 

 

Page 41



 

Tom Middleton (Head of Finance and Governance, Greater London Authority):  Chairman, I would just 

say in terms of this important point about accountability that there is accountability in the Mayor’s Office, 

there is accountability in the corporate centre and there is accountability in the departments.  There is 

accountability at all three levels and you can absolutely track that.  We can tell you exactly who is responsible 

for what.  No one is hiding behind anything. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Thank you, Chairman.  It is a point, David, that I made to Elliot when we were talking 

about the air quality indicators, which is the issue about getting information about where we are now and 

baselining and also information from other sources.  It seems to me that if you are going to have only three 

indicators with culture and creative industries - and I would like to see some targets, however difficult they may 

be to set - we must have some baseline information about what was achieved in the last year of the last Mayor 

and also what was achieved in the first year of the current Mayor.  That set your baseline of where you are 

coming from and hopefully then gives you some idea of the quantum of where we ought to be on that funding 

levered into cultural projects and programmes through match and complementary funding.  At the moment, I 

have no sense of what a fantastic quantum for Justine [Simons OBE, Deputy Mayor for Culture and Creative 

Industries] and her team to achieve might be.  I would like to also see that baseline information included as well 

because that helps us to monitor whether or not things are on track.  I would have thought it would also be 

useful for you, would it not? 

 

David Bellamy (Mayor’s Chief of Staff):  Certainly.  When you look at the individual performance 

indicators, you will see that for each there is a small point about the baseline and historic data, which will either 

give a number or give a reference to where to find it. 

 

What we are trying not to do, particularly bearing in mind that we want to expand this both in terms of the 

areas of the organisation covered and also into financial performance monitoring, is to end up with a pack of 

papers that is several storeys high if we are not careful.  It is a fair point to ask if there is a value for each area 

and having a document that is basically a static document that just records that historic information for each of 

these targets.  With reference to it, in our challenge of the teams, we will ask them about that.  Having it on 

paper I can see would be useful for the Assembly.  Why do we not look at doing that? 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  That would be very helpful.  I appreciate that there are some new targets and therefore 

it would not apply to all.  Thank you, Chairman. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  The final section is around areas without KPIs and Assembly Member Duvall 

is going to lead that. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you very much.  I am going to go through this at a pace.  Listening 

to this session, it very much sounds like it is work in progress and it should not be.  You should be further 

ahead than where you are.  We are going to concentrate on the areas where you have no KPIs. 

 

This is to you, David.  Given that the different stakeholders that give the background to the public health 

dimension and delivery of that across London, how should we hold the Mayor to account for the impact of 

health inequalities in London?  What do you think we should be doing? 

 

David Bellamy (Mayor’s Chief of Staff):  Since the publication of the draft Health Inequalities Strategy, this 

is something that there has been some dialogue on with the Assembly.  I am not closely involved in this, but I 

Page 42



 

know we are looking at how we can provide those indicators and try to ensure the use of the Mayor’s 

convening power and then those who have the responsibility and the levers where the Mayor does not, so that 

we can have transparency about that and that the Mayor and the Assembly can both hold those partners to 

account.  I know that, absolutely, discussions and work is going on about that and I believe there is the 

intention to try to bring some of that to the Health Committee soon. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you.  We can expect, then, a range of KPIs on London-wide public 

health issues that we know that the Mayor is not directly responsible for but that partners, whether they are 

the National Health Scheme (NHS) or local government, are responsible for in their contribution to looking at 

some priorities London-wide about what they can do.  Is that where we think we are heading?  OK.  We are 

going to get that back. 

 

In terms of not producing something earlier on, that is work in progress.  Was there a discussion with the 

Health Board - the Mayor has set up a Health Board with those partners, I am not sure when and therefore it 

might be an issue - or with the Mayor’s Health team on why we do not have something before us?  I know it is 

a difficult area.  I know when you are not directly hands-on what the conversation must have been, but was 

there any discussion with those people? 

 

David Bellamy (Mayor’s Chief of Staff):  I have to be honest and say I am just not cited on that.  I do not 

attend Health Boards.  I am not particularly involved in that area.   

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  OK.  I had the joy of listening to the Mayor yesterday - or not so much the 

joy of that - in terms of where he was on his Environment Strategy.  He is very big on climate change.  Shock 

horror: you have nothing here on a KPI about carbon emissions.  Why is that?  What is that about?  I know you 

have had lots of questions and you have issues around air quality, but why not carbon emissions?  Is that work 

in progress because of certain announcements yesterday?  Tell us very quickly. 

 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager (Air Quality and Hydrogen), Greater London 

Authority):  Basically, air quality focuses on emissions which impact health.  Climate change is around 

greenhouse gas emissions.  We treat them as separate issues.  There are a whole range of different indicators 

and work that has been done as part of the London Environment Strategy and there is an Implementation Plan.  

If you wanted a dashboard along the lines we have done for air quality on carbon, that would be possible but 

needs to be agreed with our Governance team.   

 

David Bellamy (Mayor’s Chief of Staff):  Yes, in terms of performance indicators, we have picked out five 

particular areas to start on.  Clearly, air quality is one.  It is a subset of what the Environment and Energy unit 

deals with.  One of the things we need to do as we expand the range of things we cover is to expand it out to 

cover other parts of that unit.  It is going to be quite important that we do that as we tie in the financial 

performance monitoring because there is a budget that is held by the Assistant Director, who was before the 

Assembly yesterday, which encompasses all those issues.  Yes, absolutely, we are going to need to address that 

there.   

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Finally, between the two of you, I have got there, that is under 

consideration that you are going to bring forward something around carbon emissions.  Yes?  We need to pin 

you down on some timescales here, whether you are working to Greenwich Meantime or some other City Hall 

time. 

Page 43



 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  We will ask that in our letter to you at the end and you can comment on it. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  OK.  Then back to you, David.  Are there other areas which you are 

considering setting KPIs on?  What is your thinking about that? Where do you think there are gaps that you 

want to move into, but you are not quite ready to do that? 

 

David Bellamy (Mayor’s Chief of Staff):  If there is one area that I particular would like us to get into this 

approach next it is regeneration.  For regeneration, there is an awful lot of project reporting that exists that the 

Sub-Committee receives quarterly.  It is in its nature that it will miss out an awful lot of individual projects that 

are happening on the high street in Hillingdon or the high street in Havering and at all points in between; 

trying to bring it into this view and get that high-level view of where we are with the individual programmes 

and the objectives and get a little bit of clarity.  We still do have some programmes there that were started 

under the previous Mayor that are working their way through to conclusions after various delays and third-

party issues.  It would be helpful because one of the things that this approach is designed to do is to be able to 

say from a high level where we are and then facilitate drilling down when data demonstrates there is a need to 

do that.  At the moment, we get a lot of information about regeneration.  It is so project-by-project detailed 

that it is quite challenging for people to look through and really get a sense of where the programme is overall.   

 

Tim Somerville (Corporate Governance Manager, Greater London Authority):  On regeneration, we will 

be bringing a report to the Q1 Sub-Committee meeting that shows what we intend to measure.  Then, from 

Q2, there will be “live” progress against those measures reported. 

 

David Bellamy (Mayor’s Chief of Staff):  Just the other thing to say is that, yes, clearly there are a lot more 

areas to go in and one has been pointed out.  I do not want us to try to do everything until we have the 

financial side right because getting that right is really important. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Just to add a note to Assembly Member Duvall’s point about carbon, there are many other 

green issues that are important as well, things like recycling targets, green space preservation and green 

energy.  Are you talking about producing a whole suite of environment targets? 

 

David Bellamy (Mayor’s Chief of Staff):  Now we have the Environment Strategy confirmed, which is 

helpful in that regard, what we have to do now is we have to say how we go from just air quality, a priority for 

obvious reasons, into capturing the wider array of activities that are taking place on the environment front and 

bringing them all into the same approach. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  From a timing point of view, if this takes any length of time, we are going to be in the 

situation where we have been with this year’s target for affordable housing starts with the Mayor putting 

forward some targets for the environment that are more or less what he knows are going to be the results if we 

do not get them very soon.  Is there any reason why we should not have the environment targets within the 

next couple of months? 

 

David Bellamy (Mayor’s Chief of Staff):  In terms of this format, we have to recognise the resource 

restrictions we have in place, which is why the growth on this team is much needed.  We also need to recognise 

what was just said about the reason for priorities in regeneration and we need to get the financial side of things 

aligned before we take this approach much further.  This does not mean that there are no targets that Shirley 

Page 44



 

[Rodrigues, Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy] would have or know more information about that.  If it 

is a case of looking at what can be shared, whether it is through the Environment Committee holding Shirley to 

account or through other fora, we can certainly look at that.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  OK.  We are going to need to draw it to a close.  Can I thank our guests?  It 

has been quite an interesting discussion.   

 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 46



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Budget and Performance 
Committee 

Date: Tuesday 12 June 2018 
Time: 11.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-performance   

 

 
Present: 
 
Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman) 
Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair) 
Sian Berry AM 
Leonie Cooper AM 
Unmesh Desai AM 
Susan Hall AM 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 There were no apologies for absence.  

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1  The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

2.2  Resolved: 

 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests. 

Page 47

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-performance


Greater London Authority 
Budget and Performance Committee 

Tuesday 12 June 2018 

 

 
 

3   Summary List of Actions (Item 3) 

 

3.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

3.2 Resolved: 

 

That the outstanding and closed actions arising from previous meetings of the 

Committee be noted.  

 
 
4   TfL Finances (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions to the following invited guests from Transport for London (TfL): 

 Simon Kilonback, Chief Finance Officer, TfL; 

 Shashi Verma, Director of Customer Experience, TfL; 

 Patrick Doig, Divisional Finance Director – Surface Transport, TfL; and 

 Graeme Craig, Director of Commercial Development, TfL. 

4.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached as Appendix 1. 

4.3 At this point in the meeting, the Chair welcomed students from Manor Longbridge School, 

Barking and Dagenham, to the public gallery. 

4.4 During the course of the discussion, the Committee requested the following: 

 A breakdown of the additional income expected to be accrued by TfL from the Elizabeth 

line during phases 1 to 3 and how the figures were derived, including details of the impact 

of any delays in opening the new line, the predictions made of people switching from 

other modes and details of the review undertaken by the University of Southampton; 

 Confirmation that TfL can introduce a workplace parking levy and whether income accrued 

would go to the boroughs or to TfL; 

 Further details on TfL’s plans to enter the build-to-rent market, including the size of the 

investment TfL plans to make and over what period; 

 Further details on the Memorandum of Understanding with the Government of India and 

the income that is expected to be generated by TfL; 

 Further information about Crossrail International and any income that may be generated 

by TfL; and 

 Details of the severance packages made to outgoing staff related to the modernisation 

and transformation programme, in particular, clarifying which severance packages were 

contractual and where any discretionary payments were made. 

 

Page 48



Greater London Authority 
Budget and Performance Committee 

Tuesday 12 June 2018 

 

 
 

4.5 Resolved: 

(a) That the scope and terms of reference for the Budget and Performance 

Committee’s investigation into TfL Finances be agreed; and 

(b) That the report and the discussion be noted. 

 
 
5   Budget and Performance Committee Work Programme (Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat.  

 

5.2 Resolved: 

 

That the work programme for the remainder of the 2018/19 Assembly year, 

including the schedule of prospective topics for forthcoming meetings as set out at 

paragraph 4.5 of the report, be agreed. 

 
 
6   Date of Next Meeting (Item 6) 

 

6.1 The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for Thursday 12 July 2018 at 10am in the 

Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
7   Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent (Item 7) 

 

7.1 There were no items of urgent business.  

 
 
8   Close of Meeting  

 

8.1 The meeting ended at 12.59pm. 

 
 
 
 
    

Chairman  Date 
 
Contact Officer: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5526; 

Email: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 5526 
 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 50



 

 

 

London Assembly Budget and Performance Committee – 12 June 2018 
 

Transcript of Agenda Item 5 – Transport for London Finances 

 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  I would now like to welcome our guests.  We have, from left to right as I 

see it, Patrick Doig, who is the Divisional Finance Director of Surface Transport at Transport for London (TfL); 

Graeme Craig, the Director of Commercial Development at TfL; Simon Kilonback, the Chief Finance Officer at 

TfL; and Shashi Verma, who is the Director of Customer Experience [Director of Strategy and Chief 

Technology Officer] at TfL.  Thank you gentlemen very much for your time this morning.   

 

The context for this investigation is that TfL are facing probably the most challenging financial circumstances 

in their history and are forecast to lose around about £968 million in this coming financial year, but are 

projecting themselves that they will return that to surplus by 2021/22, which is very ambitious.  The first 

question I will ask - I will probably start with Simon but other guests may like to chip in - is how confident 

you are in your ability to deliver the Business Plan and break even by 2021/22. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  Over the course of the last three 

years since the 2015 Spending Review, when the Government announced that it was reducing its direct 

funding of TfL from about £850 million to zero, and since the mayoral elections, we have known that we were 

going to have about £1 billion deficit in this financial year.  Over the course of those three years we have 

been planning to modernise our organisation, make it more efficient and more effective and put in place the 

measures to turn that £1 billion deficit into a surplus by 2021/22.   

 

Over the course of the last two years we have successfully reduced our operating costs on a year-on-year 

basis, firstly by £153 million in 2015/16 and then again on a like-for-like basis last year where we secured 

£398 million in savings embedded in the budget and then a further £215 million of in-year savings.  At the 

moment we have about £400 million of recurring savings that have already been secured and we are 

confident that the plans are in place to secure the further savings required to turn that -- 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  That £400 million, you say it has already been secured.  Is that taken off 

the £968 million you are expecting to lose this year, or is that an addition and if you had not saved that 

£400 million it would be a £1.3 billion deficit? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  We have already banked those 

savings in the budget that is here this year but it carries forward in future years.  Over the course of the last 

two years the measures that we have put in place have started to realise savings in past and future years.  The 

cost of delivering such a large modernisation programme is largely borne in the first two years. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Just to clarify the point I just asked about, the £400 million that you said 

you have banked is not included in the £968 million you are forecasting to be in deficit at the end of this 

year? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  It is included. 

 

Appendix 1 

Page 51



 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Is that deficit actually £500 million then? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  No, the deficit is £968 million.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  It would have been £1.3 billion if you had not made £400 million in 

savings? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  It would be larger than that if we had 

not made those savings. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Fine.  That is fine.  What I was trying to get to is that the gap you have to 

close is £968 million.  Everything is on top of the £400 million you have already banked.   

 

Sorry, Simon.  I interrupted you.  Carry on.   

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  The process of putting together a 

Business Plan and then turning it into an annual budget sees us goes through a rigorous process of challenge 

with the Mayor and the TfL Board.  We have completely granular plans in place to deliver the savings 

budgeted for 2018/19 and we have high-level plans that we are working on to deliver further savings in 

future years.  That is what you would expect when you set out on a five-year plan, that in each year the 

budget is the core promise for the following year and where you would expect the level of confidence over 

the savings to be extremely high.  The work continues from then on if you are targeting recurring savings 

such that it will deliver the Business Plan over the five-year period.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  OK.  The original question was how confident you are.  How confident are 

you? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  I am confident that we have the right 

team in place and the right plans to deliver that operating surplus.  We have demonstrated over the last two 

years our ability to reduce costs and to keep inflation and other factors under control.  I am confident that we 

have also, in the course of last year’s Business Plan, taken a much more cautious view about our income and 

the other elements of our Business Plan going forward such that we now understand that when we put 

Business Plans and budgets together it is highly likely that our income, which is driven largely by external 

factors, may vary by 2% to 3% every year.  We have to allow for that in building our Business Plan.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  The short answer to the question is that you are confident that you will 

deliver the surplus by 2021/22? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  Yes.  We acknowledge it is 

challenging but we are confident we are going to do it. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  You are confident, OK.  We are going to do a slightly deeper dive into 

many of the things that you mentioned there.  The first, of course, is on the income side, and the majority of 

your income comes from fares.  Assembly Member Cooper is going to lead on that.   

 

Page 52



 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Yes.  It is very interesting, what you are saying about feeling confident about the more 

cautious forecasting that you are doing on fares, because the figures that we have looked at show that 

previously the forecasting has been - I think it is fair to say - completely inaccurate since 2013 and in no year 

has the figure that you forecast for income from fares been achieved.  Obviously we have the figures up to a 

certain point but we cannot see the figures as yet for 2018/19.  How are fares holding up against your very 

cautious forecast for the first couple of months of 2018/19? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  So far we are in line with our budget 

for the year. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Which is obviously reduced from previous levels. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  As I said in my previous response, as 

we have shown on pages 18 and 19 of our budget document, the forecasts for the factors that underpin our 

fares from the various institutions that make those forecasts vary by as much as 2% or 3%.  That difference 

we have to take into account going forward.  Our expectation is that we will have to potentially adjust the 

numbers we publish in the tables to adjust to the outcome being 2% to 3% different from the number that is 

projected.  That is just the nature of the underlying economic forecasts that we use.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Given the economic impact on income that you have just alluded to, what is the plan if 

the forecast proves to be inaccurate again and is showing an anticipated higher income when fare income is 

behind? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  In the last financial year, when the 

fares undershot what we had expected, we found £215 million of in-year savings to ensure that we came back 

to and exceeded our net operating surplus for the year.  That is what we are fully focused on as an executive 

team and Board.  We continue to identify through our internal processes the contingency levers to allow us to 

do that should we need to do so again.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  If fares are behind forecasts then you will be looking for further savings? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  Absolutely.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  OK.  We have discussed the fares freeze, which was announced by the Mayor before he 

was elected in his Manifesto in 2016.  The estimate was that that would cost £640 million over the mayoral 

term.  Is there any update on that estimate?  Has the cost gone down because the amount of income overall 

has gone down, or has it gone up in terms of the overall cost? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  That 

forecast was based on assumptions about future inflation.  Inflation has been higher in one year, lower in 

another year.  So far we are in line with it.  When we finish the four-year period that number will end up being 

whatever it is based on the inflation outcome we end up with.  At this stage we have no reason to believe that 

it is going to be very far from the £640 million we were forecasting.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  You still think £640 million is what the cost of the fare freeze will be? 

 

Page 53



 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Yes.  

That is over the four-year period. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Yes, I understand it is over the four-year period but obviously we are now halfway 

through the four-year period, which is why we are interested in the question.   

 

Let us say the Mayor decides that he wants to go with the same fare freeze policy for his next Manifesto, 

assuming of course that he decides he wants to run again, which I think is fairly likely.  What would be the 

impact of another four-year freeze on TfL’s finances? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  We have 

not worked out those numbers.  Again, those numbers would be very much driven by what underlying rate of 

inflation there is.  If there is zero inflation and there is a fare freeze -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  But you have not modelled the impact? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  No, we 

have not modelled the impact. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Is that something that you are planning to model some time soon? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  We 

model a lot of things.  That is not something we have modelled because we have not been asked to but it is 

something we can do if needed. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  It is not something you have been looking at, Simon? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  We planned on the basis of the 

agreed assumptions with the Mayor so far and those are the instructions around the Plan.  What we do in the 

Plan is look at scenarios of what we would do if the income were higher or lower for any number of reasons.  

It could be a decision to continue the current policy on fares; it could be due to a lot of factors.  It is about 

what we would do if income were higher or lower than where we are today.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Sensitivity analysis? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Thank you, Chairman.  

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  I am just going back to the earlier questions and the answers to those.  On 

a scale of one to ten, where does this deficit fit in the worry factor if you do not meet your forecast?  Are we 

at an eight or nine in your professional opinion or is it a lower figure?  Where are we if you do not hit these 

forecasts that you say you will hit to reduce this deficit?   

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  I would say that where we sit today, 

we are very confident that we will deliver the Business Plan.  We are required in law to set a balanced budget 

Page 54



 

 

every year and we always, in every year, have to respond to whatever circumstances arise and replan and 

reprioritise as a result.  I think the answer to your question is more that a plan is a plan.  The budget is 

something that is legally balanced every year.  I am extremely confident in the budget for this year.  We 

recognise that there are challenges to delivering the Business Plan and we have put in place options to adapt 

to it over time.   

 

If you look at it on that basis we would be a nine out of ten, very confident, on the budget for the year.  Over 

the Business Plan period it would probably be more like a six or seven out of ten because we recognise that 

we do not know what is going to happen in the future.  All we can do is plan for it.   

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  On the basis of that answer, by the time we reach where you are 

forecasting to have reached we might be carrying on with another budget where you can make the figures 

add up and give us a balanced budget but we are continuing with a deficit of this level.  It cannot be healthy 

for TfL to continue to be doing that.  Let us ask the question another way then.  I think there are some alarm 

bells ringing now to a degree but, in your professional opinion, when do the alarm bells ring and when do you 

say to the Mayor, “We might need a different strategy”?  You are forecasting what that would be.   

 

Then the second question.  I think - if I have misheard, correct the Committee - that you said if we do not hit 

these fare forecasts in the coming years that must be one of the big alarm bells and you might need to 

change the strategy.   

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  Certainly in the context of last year 

we had to examine with the Mayor and the TfL Board the reduction in passenger numbers and the impact 

that would have.  We did, as we have explained, rebase our forecasts for the entire five-year period and we 

did therefore make some decisions about how we would prioritise the 2017 Business Plan compared to the 

previous one the year before.  The £1 billion deficit we have known about for a number of years.  It is nothing 

new.  We have demonstrated every year that we are delivering the level of savings - and more - that we said 

we would.  We maintain that we should be judged on our delivery.  Also, we will continue to deliver on our 

budget for this year and continue to monitor the scenarios for this year’s iteration of the Business Plan. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Accepting that you are delivering on the savings that you are required to 

make, things that are in your control, things that are not in your control are the things that are going the 

wrong way at the moment.  Can we just go back?  When do you start advising the TfL Board and the Mayor 

that there might need to be a different strategy or scenario?  You can always make the figures add up.  The 

deficit is always there.  There are consequences of deficits of this size, are there not?  If we want to paint the 

picture and set the scene for those who might well be listening to this and who are not experienced with that, 

there are consequences of continuing with a deficit of this level.   

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  Absolutely, which is why we have set 

out a Business Plan to turn that deficit into a surplus by 2021/22.  We maintain that it is the right strategy to 

do everything necessary to deliver an operating surplus by 2021/22 whilst maintaining a safe and efficient 

transport operation.  In the context of this year’s Business Plan and budget and in future Business Plans and 

budgets, and in our regular discussions with the Board and the Mayor, we examine the various different 

scenarios as more evidence comes to light.  We are not in the business of forecasting the economy.  We take 

the Office of Budget Responsibility, the Bank of England and other people’s forecasts and use them to base 

Page 55



 

 

our own forecasts on.  What we do do is look at a range of scenarios and how we might respond to them if 

factors outside our control mean we need to.   

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  To complete the picture then for this Committee and for those listening, if 

we do not get to grips with this issue and you get your forecast wrong on the things that you are not 

controlling, the bits that you cannot control, we are facing more cuts? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  In the first instance -- 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Not just delays in projects, cuts. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  To be clear, we are pursuing a 

strategy of increasing all of our income as much as we can, particularly in Graeme Craig’s area of our 

non-passenger transport income.  We are investing in significantly increasing the contribution of that 

commercial income.  That can help offset some of the pressures on the externally driven side.  The first 

response to any downgrade in our externally driven income is to try to increase the income that we can 

control.  Then we have to look at the prioritisation of what we do and where we spend our money in the 

context of delivering a balanced budget every year.   

 

Sian Berry AM:  Just quickly, to recap on the fares freeze, not all of the fares are affected by the fares 

freeze, only some are, but obviously freezing the fares could have an effect on demand that was going to 

offset the straight loss of income you might see from freezing.  Can you tell us a bit more about what kinds of 

journeys are affected by the freeze, whether or not you have seen them increase more than others and 

whether or not that has been offset?  Will we get - just so I can get all my questions in at once - a final 

estimate of the cost of the freeze at the end of four years that is accurate? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Broadly 

speaking, all the fares that are directly controlled by the Mayor have been frozen and those fares that are 

jointly set by TfL and the train operating companies have not been frozen because they are subject to oral 

agreements by which you cannot freeze those fares.  Things like Travelcard and associated fares have not 

been frozen but pay-as-you-go fares on the Tube and buses have been frozen.  On buses, the Mayor controls 

all fares.  Therefore, all bus fares have been frozen.  That is not the case with the Underground.   

 

In terms of whether we have seen an impact of that, absolutely.  The most measurable impact is that the 

decline in Tube traffic over the last year has been much less than what we have seen on National Rail, where 

there has not been that sort of fares freeze.  If you look at specific ticket types, there is a lot of movement 

between different ticket types that is happening because of the introduction of contactless and things of that 

kind.  People who previously bought Travelcards are now on contactless and so on.  It is very difficult to 

unpick from all of that how much of the impact has been just down to the fares freeze and how much of it 

has been down to other factors.  That impact can only be measured at an aggregate level and at the 

aggregate level we do see the impact from the fares freeze being a positive thing.   

 

Sian Berry AM:  For example, on the Tube the people who would pay a frozen fare are taking, what, just a 

single journey and not taking any other journeys that day? 

 

Page 56



 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Again, at 

that level it is impossible to figure out what individuals are doing and differentiate that from all the other 

things that are happening on the system.  That is why we can only study this at an aggregate level.  At an 

aggregate level, the decline in demand that we have seen on the Underground is much lower than the decline 

that has been seen on National Rail, where there has not been a similar fares freeze. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  That was not my question.  My question was, “Which fares are frozen?”  It is single journeys 

on the Tube? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  All 

pay-as-you-go fares or single fares on the Tube are frozen, as they are on buses.  Travelcard fares are not 

frozen.   

 

Sian Berry AM:  Caps are not frozen? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Caps are 

in line with Travelcard fares and therefore they are not frozen.   

 

Sian Berry AM:  How many journeys would you have to take to not be frozen, roughly?  Three? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  The third 

journey is typically frozen unless you are not coming into zone 1, in which case you may need to make many 

more journeys before you reach the fares cap.  Looked at in a different way, about 70% of pay-as-you-go 

journeys that are made on the Tube are not capped.  Quite a large proportion of journeys that are being made 

are on cards that are not capped.   

 

Sian Berry AM:  You are saying that 70% of Tube journeys are affected by the freeze? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  That is really useful to know.  Thank you.  My final question is: will we get a final 

assessment of the cost of the freeze? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Yes, at 

the end of the four years.  Again, because it is driven by inflation which is not under anyone’s control, the 

final cost will be dependent upon the inflation outcome we see.   

 

Sian Berry AM:  Thank you. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Just tidying up this section, Simon, you said that you are now assuming 

your fares forecast could be out by possibly 2% to 3%.  On the basis of previous experience, you are more 

pessimistic in your forecast this year than the last two.  If you are right, if it is out by 2% to 3% on what you 

are currently forecasting, will you still be receiving more fares income than you did last year? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  If we were out by that level of 

magnitude we would end up broadly in line with last year because of the reasons that Shashi outlined.  A 

Page 57



 

 

large proportion of fares still have some price increase because they are enshrined in the Travelcard 

agreements with train operating companies and national Government.  There is some level of increase in 

income because of that.  As it was this year, if we saw a 2% decline we would see ourselves broadly flat year 

on year.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Not a 2% decline but if you are 2% out on your forecast.  It is not going 

backwards by 2% because I think every year in your five-year Business Plan you are assuming more 

passengers than the year before. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  Yes.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  That would indicate more income.  I am interested in the impact on your 

income if you are out by 2% to 3% on your forecast and whether that would be more than, say, last year. 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  I will 

answer that question but before I do that, can I just correct one point here?  It is true that in the last few 

years we have seen our income being lower than forecast but that has not been the long-term trend.  We 

have had periods where our income has been much higher than forecast as well.  If you look at the period 

between 2002 and 2008, that is exactly what we were seeing.  It is, therefore, important to understand 

exactly what process we follow.  We have a well-established methodological -- 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Can I just ask you to pause there?  The Members are aware of your 

methodology because obviously we had that briefing where you explained it.  That is not the issue or the 

point, really.  I perfectly accept what you say, that there are peaks and troughs in terms of fares income.  

Sometimes you will sink, sometimes you will rise.   

 

The trend at the moment or over the last four to five years has been lower and the context of that is that you 

have lost the operating support grant from central Government.  You have very little fat left.  Simon said that 

if you were out on your fares income then you would have to make more savings, in response to questions 

from Assembly Member Duvall.  There is a limit to how much of that you can do, I would have thought.  That 

means getting your forecast accurate is now more crucial than it has ever been in TfL’s history.  That is why 

we are interested and that is why I am pursuing this point.   

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  There is 

no mechanism by which this forecast can ever be accurate.  Internally we all understand that there is a range 

of outcomes possible on the forecast depending upon how the economy performs going forward.  The big 

change that we made last year is that rather than taking a mid-level case, which is what we used to do - we 

would take the middle of the forecast from GLA (Greater London Authority) Economics and other people - we 

changed that to a worst-case forecast.  As Simon [Kilonback] said, that worst-case forecast is exactly where 

we are right now.  Over the last two months of this financial year, we are just about at the forecast level.  It 

just means that the economy is not doing as well as the mid-level forecast from six to 12 months ago.  It is 

performing lower than that.  Our cautious approach to fares forecasting has meant that we are not losing 

income compared to our forecast right now.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  That is good news, clearly.  The caveat to that, of course, is that we are 

only two months into the financial year.   

Page 58



 

 

 

What I am trying to get to is an understanding of the impact it will have if your forecast is incorrect by 2% or 

3%, which is the figure that Simon [Kilonback] gave.  You make assumptions based on the amount of income 

that you have in terms of spending and other projects, and we are going to get into some of that a bit later in 

the meeting.  If your fares forecast is out, what impact will that have on the future decision-making of TfL?  

That is crucial, really, and that is one of the things that we are trying to get to the bottom of.  To turn a 

£1 billion deficit into a surplus or break even within three years is very ambitious indeed.  Given that 72% of 

your income comes from fares, it is absolutely crucial that you are achieving your fares income at the highest 

level possible.  If you are not then that turnaround is either going to be delayed or it is not going to happen 

at all, which of course has further knock-on consequences.  That is what we are trying to get to.   

 

Given that passenger numbers have been falling year-on-year for the last two or three years, why are you so 

confident that they will rise every single year for the next five? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  If you 

look at the fares forecast, £4.7 billion last year and £6.2 billion by 2022/23, the bulk of that is the Elizabeth 

line.  If you look at the Elizabeth line itself, a large chunk of the revenue, nearly 70% of the Elizabeth line 

revenue, is just transfers from existing National Rail services or the Tube to the Elizabeth line.  The transfer 

from the Tube to the Elizabeth line is already in our account.   

 

The remaining quarter or so of the Elizabeth line revenue is generated revenue.  There has been a lot of focus 

on whether that is accurate or not.  We follow established methodologies for estimating the revenue that 

would come from a new line.  These methodologies have been developed over a very long period of time and 

have been used on previous things such as the Overground, the East London line and, before that, the 

Jubilee line extension and so on.  There are not many opportunities to test whether these models are correct 

or not because that kind of major intervention is only made very occasionally, but the experience from all of 

those interventions has gone into the estimation for the Elizabeth line.   

 

Again, it is a forecast and the actual numbers can be higher or lower than we are forecasting but it is a very 

conservative estimate of what we expect from the Elizabeth line.  That analysis has also been externally tested 

and validated by other people who have found the methodology and the modelling to be robust, but I think 

we all acknowledge internally that it is a modelling outcome and that in any modelling outcome, even if you 

are conservative, the worst-case outcome can always be worse than what you are assuming.  That is why 

Simon [Kilonback] has been saying that we will react if we see any trends in our revenue that are not 

according to our forecast.  That is what we are here to do and that is what we will do.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  I think the concern the Committee has, though, is about the amount of 

room you have to react.  There is only so much cutting you can do to your operating organisation to 

counteract a failure to achieve fares revenue.   

 

We have just touched on the Elizabeth line and that is the subject of our next section.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  I would like to get a bit more into some of the demand forecasting, perhaps 

with you, first, Shashi, and then I will bring Simon in.  We know from the briefing we have had previously from 

you and other information that passenger travel is changing and you could say that all the historic models 

that you have used in calculations are outdated now in some ways as people are making fewer trips.  Some of 

Page 59



 

 

that is around leisure and shopping, from your briefing.  People are choosing to live their lives differently.  

That will have a huge impact on your modelling.  What I wanted to understand is: is there a long-term trend 

in the work that you are doing - I am sure this is your everyday work - of declining trips and what are you 

doing in your modelling to reflect that and make sure it is accurate, so that we do not have this sudden 

problem that our Chairman has been referring to? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  The 

observed data is very clear that there has been a decline in trip rates over the last ten years but it is also 

important to unpack where this decline in trip rates is coming from.  Some of the received wisdom on this is 

right, some of it is not right and some of it is unprovable at this stage.   

 

In terms of commuting behaviour, we saw a change in commuting trip rates around the financial crisis ten 

years ago but there has been no change since then.  In fact, commuting trip rates have held constant.  The 

direct reflection of that is in the growth that we still see in peak demand on the Underground.   

 

By comparison, trip rates on leisure, shopping and activities of that kind have been declining for about the 

last four or five years.  The question is whether that is down to people living their lives differently or whether 

that is down to the fact that there has been a wage squeeze of unprecedented proportions going on in the 

United Kingdom (UK) economy.  This is the bit that is unprovable.  What we do not know and what no one 

knows is whether, if wages were to start rising again, would leisure and shopping carry on declining or 

whether they would start increasing.  Some of it is structural change.  For example, online shopping is having 

an impact and will probably carry on having an impact even if the wages were to start growing.  The fact that 

people are not going out to attractions, to museums, shopping or to restaurants and so on may not be 

permanent.  That may be a reflection of just the fact that incomes have been squeezed.   

 

We take all of these factors into account in our analysis and we take a cautious but prudent view of how to 

project these things forward but as I say, some of these are unknowable right now because the effect of the 

wage squeeze compared to structural change in the way people live their lives is indistinguishable right now.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  I understand the issue around the state of the economy but in some of the 

information you have given us before when you look at the amount of time people spend-- they are still 

spending the same amount of time shopping, they are just choosing to do so sitting on the sofa at home on 

their iPad or whatever rather than out making a trip.  What are you doing to look at that change in 

behaviour?  I think you said before that you were going to consider developing your own periodic time use 

survey to complement the surveys you currently use and you were going to explore different scenarios and 

assumptions that you could use in your modelling forecasts. 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Our 

revenue forecasting, including all of those things you have just mentioned, is constantly under review.  In 

fact, we have done quite a bit of extensive analysis over the last year because our actual numbers have fallen 

short of forecasts.  Our conclusion from that is that we need to separate these things out.  There are 

economic factors and there are structural change factors.  The fact that economic factors have ended up 

lower than forecast by independent agencies explains the bulk of the difference that we have seen in demand 

on the Tube and buses.  That leaves no room for structural factors.  Of course there are structural changes 

happening, including things like online shopping, but it is not having a big measurable impact on travel 

Page 60



 

 

demand separately from the economic factors.  That is why we keep coming back and focusing on the fact 

that it is the economic factors that are really material to our future demand.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Are you able to build into your modelling - we were having this discussion 

before as a Committee - that if I am doing online shopping I may not personally be making a trip but there is 

a lorry out there making at least one trip for me?  How are you able to build that in?  It may not be a personal 

trip as such but it is still a trip on the roads to provide a service.  How are you looking at modelling that? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  We have 

a reasonable understanding of what is happening in that space.  In the observed data there has been a huge 

increase in light goods vehicles in London.  That is largely a result of online shopping but also other things of 

that kind that are going on in terms of light deliveries.  We take this into account in our forecasts not just of 

what is happening on public transport but also what is happening on the road network in the future. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  You are looking at how you build that in? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  That is helpful.  Simon, what is the financial response to this very uncertain 

time with declining trip growth?   

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  As Shashi said, the decline that we 

have observed has mostly been in discretionary travel and off-peak travel.  That is what took place last year.  

The response was that we rebased our forecast significantly last year.  On a periodic or weekly basis, the 

Commissioner, myself, Shashi and the managing directors of the major transport divisions monitor our trip 

rates, passenger journeys and income, on a four-weekly basis we monitor our overall performance and 

quarterly at the Board we go into a deep dive on our total performance with the entire TfL Board.  We 

re-forecast substantially every quarter and we also continuously keep everything under review and under 

intense scrutiny so that we can make decisions based on the information we have in front of us.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Going back to the point that Assembly Member Duvall was making earlier, if 

you are checking this weekly with the Commissioner this is red in terms of your concerns going forward and 

the sustainability of TfL.   

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  Given what we experienced last year, 

what we learned was that any normal organisation has to be self-sufficient.  That is the big change for us over 

the last three or four years.  TfL has to be increasingly self-sufficient rather than funded by central 

Government and we need to do the things any normal organisation would do.  That level of focus and 

scrutiny is certainly what I had in other businesses I have been part of in the private sector who were 

dependent on covering their costs from their income and making a surplus for their stakeholders.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  It is not something that TfL historically has done because of relying on 

Government subsidy? 

 

Page 61



 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  We have always done it but the level 

of scrutiny of it has obviously been heightened over the course of the last couple of years as the proportion 

of funding that comes from our own sources is significantly higher than it has been in the past. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Thank you.  Let me move on to the Elizabeth line.  You have already started to 

touch on it.  This is a huge new project and it is still a risk.  It is in the final stages but it is technically very 

challenging going forward.  You are budgeting £151 million of fare revenue for this financial year and it is 

only going to open in December.  Will the Elizabeth line launch on time and what would be the threat to your 

budget if it does not? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  To start with, the £151 million 

includes the services we are already running.  We took over the West Anglia services a number of years ago.  

We have started now running the services from Heathrow to Hayes and Harlington and to Paddington.  Those 

are mainline services we have already taken over.  That income is reflected in the £151 million.  We are still 

confident that the central tunnel section will open in December 2019.  We are obviously giving it the level of 

scrutiny you would expect for such a major project but we are confident it will open in December 2019.   

 

There is not a huge amount of income from the central tunnel section that derives this year.  The main 

income from the Elizabeth line is on full opening of the end-to-end services from Maidenhead to Shenfield 

on December 2019.  In fact, in this financial year the main impact is that we are expecting some abstraction 

from existing Tube lines such as the Central line and the Piccadilly line.  That has been fully built into the 

forecast for the London Underground.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  If we took out from the £151 million the existing TfL Rail and then the 

abstraction, what roughly is the figure of additional income that you are expecting from new passengers as a 

result of the partial opening in December? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  It is very 

small.  It is only of the order of £20 million or £30 million.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  £20 million or £30 million? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Yes.  To 

add to that, if the Elizabeth line were not to open, which is not what we expect to happen, the abstraction 

would also not happen.  If that income did not show up on the Elizabeth line it would show up on the 

Overground on the other side.  The risk to income from a delay on the Elizabeth line is very small for the next 

phase.  There is, of course, more of a risk if the line did not open all the way to Maidenhead and Reading in 

December 2019. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  OK.  Do you have a figure of, say, if it was delayed by a week, what that cost 

would be to you? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  As I said, 

it is negligible because it is all about transfers from the Underground to the Elizabeth line. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  You said £20 million to £30 million would be new passengers. 

Page 62



 

 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Yes, but 

that is transfers from the Underground.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  That is transfers from the Underground? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Yes.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  What is your figure for completely new income?  Is there none in that 

£151 million? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  There is 

very little net new income at phase 3 of the Elizabeth line.  Phase 1, which was Shenfield to Liverpool Street, 

was all transfers from National Rail.  Phase 2, which is from Heathrow to Paddington, is all transfers from 

National Rail.  Phase 3 will all be transfers from the Underground because the service is going to be running 

in three different sections with the central tunnel running only from Paddington to Abbey Road.  There are a 

small amount of transfers from the North Kent Railway at Abbey Road but it is very small.  It is only when we 

start through-running that the real income of the Elizabeth line starts to come in.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  So even in the next financial year from April to December, when you are 

effectively running it in three parts, you are saying that you are not expecting any additional income?  

Perhaps you can write to us with some of that detail.  You are obviously predicting some in there.   

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  We would be happy to do that.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  We could perhaps clarify that.  That would be useful. 

 

Shashi, you have already touched on the modelling and I realise it is unusual to have a brand new line.  You 

said you used established methodologies for new lines and it has been tested and validated by others.  

Perhaps you could tell us who has tested and validated it, and perhaps you could give us some more 

information on what impact, say, a 1% error might make on the budget. 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  The 

modelling that is done for the Elizabeth line has been done for a very long time.  The highest-level modelling 

is called LTS, London Transportation Studies.  That is a very strategic model that is used for planning.  It has 

been in use since the early 1980s and has been developed throughout.  Back in the days when I was working 

at Crossrail we benchmarked the LTS model back then with the results of the Jubilee line extension, which 

was the biggest intervention that had been made since the LTS model came in.  Subsequently we have 

benchmarked it against other things that have happened, including the London Overground and the East 

London line extension.  That is a high-level strategic model.   

 

There are other strategic models like RailPlan which then take the outputs from LTS and assign traffic to each 

railway line that has been put into the system.  The models are run with or without the Elizabeth line and you 

see the impact the Elizabeth line can have in both generating but also transferring the money.   

 

Page 63



 

 

That is the planning model that is run.  That has been benchmarked not just by us but by external 

consultancies.  MVA have been very active.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  MVA? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  MVA.  

They are an established travel consultancy.  They have been very active in LTS going back 20 or 30 years.  

The work has been done with them.  It is, again, the same model that is used for things like Thameslink and 

other very good projects in London as well.   

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  In the course of the last 12 months 

we have asked -- was it the University of Portsmouth? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Yes.  

That is one stream of activity.  We then look at our own detailed detail that we get from Oyster, contactless 

and so on, and we try to see whether what we are getting from LTS is plausible compared to what we see.  

Based on all of that, our forecasts are done.   

 

In the last year we asked the University of Southampton to come in and do an external review of our 

methodology, our output and also our sensitivity analysis on this.  The reports from the University of 

Southampton were that, by and large, our model was correct.  Not surprisingly, the biggest factors in the 

long-term forecast for the Elizabeth line, as with the Tube, are things like inflation, the economy and factors 

of that kind.  In terms of the take-up that we are predicting for the Elizabeth line, there was no concern 

expressed by the external parties. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  OK.  If it turned out there was one, what impact would a 1% error make? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Again, 

you have to separate these things out into transfers from the National Rail and the Underground.  A 1% error 

can happen, of course.  That is down to the economy.  About a quarter or maybe about 30% of the Elizabeth 

line revenue is new revenue.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  A quarter to -- 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  About 

25% to 30%.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  25% to 30% is going to be new revenue? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  If you 

look at the run rate on the Elizabeth line, which is of the order of 800 million to 900 million once it is fully 

functional and full, in about four or five years’ time, only about one-third of that, 300 million or so, is new 

revenue where there would be a risk, and 1% of that would be 3 million. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  OK.  Those new passengers, where are they coming from?  Is it that you are 

poaching them from whatever rail company it is running in from Reading, Maidenhead and some of the Kent 

Page 64



 

 

lines, or are they new people deciding, “I am getting out of my car to make that journey because it is going to 

be so fast”? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Again, 

we have to go back and look at the experience of previous transport interventions including the Jubilee line, 

which is probably the most pertinent one here.  Some of it is direct transfers from other Tube lines or National 

Rail and that is already taken into account because our modelling shows that, but a lot of it is down to people 

changing their behaviour.  That is behaviour in terms of getting out of their cars and onto the Elizabeth line, 

but also choices about where people live and where they work.  That is what the railway enables.  That is the 

whole purpose of the Elizabeth line and that is what we would expect to happen.   

 

For example, an entire area was developed on the back of the Jubilee line that did not exist before.  A lot of 

the journeys that have been made on the Jubilee line were generated by buildings like this one and Canary 

Wharf and so on being built.  There is already a lot of development happening along the Crossrail corridor not 

just in office space but also retail space and housing, which is what will fill the Elizabeth line once it opens. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  Part of the original business case for 

the Elizabeth line was to bring a further million people within an hour’s journey time of the central business 

district in London.  The expectation is, as Shashi said, that people will change the choices they make and will 

choose to use that reduced journey time to work or enjoy London’s attractions. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  What would be helpful is if, when you supply us with just a bit more of how 

you have calculated your numbers around the Elizabeth line, whether you could also put in your predictions 

of people switching from other modes and so on so that we can understand that, and maybe also whether we 

might be able to see this clean bill of health, effectively, that the University of Southampton has given you 

for your modelling.  Thank you. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  We are now going to move on and look at your longer-term fares 

projections and assumptions. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Thank you.  May I start with that question?  If I can ask you, Shashi, what are the 

longer-term visions for the fares revenue? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  Shall I start with that one? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  In the context of a Business Plan that 

goes beyond the current mayoral term, our current planning assumption is consistent with the national policy 

on fares for the period beyond the current mayoral term.  That is because, as an organisation, we cannot 

predict what might happen in the future and, therefore, we are using the national rail fares assumption 

beyond the current mayoral term as our base planning assumption. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  When we look at the trend towards cycling and walking, there will be an extra 134 million 

journeys made by bicycle, which is an increase of 45%.  What sort of impact will that continued trend towards 

those two modes have on fares revenue? 

Page 65



 

 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  We believe that walking and cycling 

and public transport are complementary to each other and, in fact, what the investment in cycling does is 

help to deliver the mode shift away from private vehicle usage and on to walking, cycling and public 

transport, where the majority of people doing such activities are completing a first or last mile of a public 

transport journey. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  It might stretch further and, if it does, it may take people off the other modes, ie damage 

an income stream.  What work has been done to look into that? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  The modelling we do is looking at the 

total journeys within London, public transport, walking, cycling and private motor vehicle journeys, and our 

strategy in the Mayor’s Transport Strategy is to use public transport, walking and cycling to attract people out 

of car use.  Our strategy is all about gaining market share from private vehicle use as a whole rather than 

concerning ourselves overly with whether walking or cycling is taking revenue from public transport. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Do you accept that cycling is taking people away from public transport? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Yes.  

Some people who are cycling today were clearly doing something else before and some of them may have 

been using public transport, but the whole purpose of this integrated strategy is to attract people out of 

private motor vehicles into public transport and walking and cycling.  As we know from past experience, any 

space that is made open on the Tube network, for example, at peak times is taken up by someone else.  The 

Tube is the fullest it has ever been during peak times.  Any journey that is taken away from the Tube into 

walking or cycling will be taken up by someone else. 

 

It is also worth keeping in mind that, against the 134 million cycling trips, there are 4.3 billion public transport 

trips.  While there has been a big increase in cycling and that is driven by policy choices that we have made, 

compared to the vast number of people using the public transport network, it is still quite small. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  You are saying that if people decide to cycle, it is fine and somebody else will take up their 

position -- 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  -- which I do not quite get, and that therefore the revenue will not change? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  The overall strategy looks at the total 

demand for the movement of goods and people in London, and the interventions and investment we can 

make in increasing capacity on public transport are limited.  Therefore, walking and cycling is part of the 

holistic strategy to cope with the projected increase in population and demand for transport in London as part 

of an overall intervention to have more people using those methods, which are more sustainable than private 

motor vehicle usage. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  At the moment, we are just looking at the financial aspects of this, not the health benefits 

or anything else, but I would have thought that the more people who are cycling in must hit your revenue. 

Page 66



 

 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Every 

increase in capacity that we have had on the Underground - if you look at the Victoria line going from 28 

trains an hour to 36 trains an hour - over a very short space of time, the line is just as full as it was before.  

The Jubilee line has had an even bigger capacity increase and the line is just as full as it was before.  What 

that shows is that central London is a very attractive place and people are willing to go through a degree of 

pain to get to work in the morning and are willing to endure a bit of crowding.  You do not find this 

everywhere, but in London people are willing to endure crowding to get to work and, if a space opens up on 

the Tube, somebody else is willing to endure that crowding. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I hear what you say.  On this assumption of increase in business and population, for how 

long are you going to project that?  There will be a saturation point.  It is ghastly getting on the 

Underground, granted, but I would not think, “Well, I will not today because some cyclists are going to go on 

the train instead of me and so I will not”.  We just all plough on there.  How long are you going to predict 

that there is going to be an increase? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  The London Plan predicts that there 

is going to be an increase and we base our Transport Strategy off that.  There is a clear global trend of more 

people gravitating to urban centres and London’s population in the London Plan and the Mayor’s Transport 

Strategy is expected to increase from about 8.5 million people today to about 10.5 million by 2040.  The 

expectation is still that London’s population will continue to increase over time. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  How are you modelling for new forms of transport like the on-demand buses to affect 

revenue? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  I am going to ask Patrick Doig, the 

Finance Director of Surface Transport, to pick up that one. 

 

Patrick Doig (Divisional Finance Director – Surface Transport, Transport for London):  At the 

moment, the on-demand bus services that we have seen enter into London have had a very small effect.  We 

would not be able to notice it in our figures.  Although the framework that we have to work with those 

operators was not designed for on-demand transport, it provides a mechanism for working with them and 

ensuring those services are in places where we need that extra capacity.  For example, most on-demand bus 

services are regulated through the London service permit arrangements and that allows us to reject a permit if 

it is not congruent with the Mayor’s Transport Strategy. 

 

What we have been doing is working with operators through that framework to ensure the new services are 

starting in places where the actual capacity is beneficial and can complement our services.  Through that, we 

do not expect to see a significant amount of substitution as long as we get those services operating in places 

where we need that extra supply and it can complement our networks.  In particular, we are looking at the 

possibility of those on-demand services running in outer London, where we could benefit from additional 

connectivity, and there is a potential that on-demand services could provide a better service than regular bus 

services in some cases. 

 

We are proposing a trial and starting a trial and we released the expression of interest last week on that trial.  

That will build our understanding of how on-demand transport works, what type of people use it and what 

Page 67



 

 

previous trips they were making to understand the impact that that will have.  We will feed that information 

and data we gather from that trial back into our financial and passenger modelling, and so that should help us 

improve our ability to forecast in the future. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Thank you.  I will go back to Shashi, if I may.  Do you or the Mayor’s office carry out any 

research into public attitude to fare increases?  Do you think Londoners would be prepared to pay more for a 

better service? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  We have 

not done any specific research on that recently.  The last time that I can recall doing a survey of that kind was 

probably around 2009.  It is something that is discussed very frequently, including on the front pages of 

newspapers.  The Mayor has taken the view that fares were high.  Especially compared to the fact that 

people’s incomes have not gone up, fares had been going up and, therefore, that is what has resulted in the 

fares freeze policy. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  When the Mayor decided to freeze fares - or the fares that he could freeze - knowing that 

it would have a massive effect on budgets, did anybody warn the Mayor’s office that it would have an effect 

on budgets? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  This was 

part of the Mayor’s manifesto and so this was before the election -- 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Yes, I am aware of that, but I am saying, as a business model, did anybody say, “This could 

cause major problems to the finances of TfL?” 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  The fares policy and the amount of 

business rates that the Mayor now has devolved to him to fund TfL mean that whoever is the Mayor has a 

choice about the level of outcome and service levels and investment levels that they can afford to have based 

upon a fares policy, passenger numbers and the amount of business rates available.  Of course, the Mayor 

challenged TfL to become more effective and more efficient and we have demonstrated that we are working 

very hard to do that over the last few years to enable the fares policy to not have such a big impact.  We 

firmly believe, actually, given what we have seen over the last couple of years compared to the national rail 

network and the impacts on people’s discretionary income, that the fares freeze has helped underpin our 

revenues from being -- they are not lower than they would be had we risen fares in line with the national rail 

fare policy. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  It has caused problems with investment. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  The reduction of Government grant 

of, on average, £700 million a year compared to, on average, about a £150 million a year of the fares freeze 

has had a bigger impact on investment. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  They both have had an effect. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  One has clearly had a much larger 

impact than the other. 

Page 68



 

 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  I just want to pick up a couple of things in terms of thinking of a long-term 

vision.  I realise that you have the Mayor’s vision for fares for this term, but beyond that and what thinking 

you might be doing, are you doing some work around looking at Oyster versus contactless?  Is Oyster going 

to continue in the future?  You have a higher cost, something like 10 pence in every pound, compared to 

under 1 penny in every pound if people use contactless.  Are you looking at incentivising people to move to 

contactless or scrapping Oyster altogether? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  We have 

been very clear over many years that Oyster is not going away.  It is here to stay.  That policy is not about to 

change.  It is here and will remain here because there are people without contactless cards, including children, 

and there are people who do not want to use contactless cards because of the way they budget their lives.  

We are not about to take the Oyster card away.  For reasons of equity, despite the fact that there is a 

difference in the cost of providing the service, we are not going to bring in a difference between Oyster and 

contactless prices.  That policy has been well established and there is no talk at all of changing that policy. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Is there any work you as officers have been doing to look at this?  To start off 

with, there was a differential.  You got a weekly cap on contactless, which you did not get on Oyster, and that 

will have incentivised some people who use pay-as-you-go to move to use their bankcard.  I am just 

wondering if you have done any work looking at scenarios and how potentially you could generate more 

income from your fares just by getting people to use contactless more? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  The first 

thing is that the weekly cap on contactless was at the same price as the weekly Travelcard that was available 

on Oyster -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  You had to make a decision in advance on an Oyster card, which you did 

not -- 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  You had 

to make a decision and so there is the issue of convenience of not having to make a choice in advance, but 

there has never been a price differential between Oyster and contactless -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  It was a choice which, therefore, some people who do not have a bankcard 

would not have had, which I have raised with you many times. 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  I am just thinking, going forward, you are trying to think of how you can raise 

more money.  Is this a way you have been looking into at all? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  It is 

something that is always possible, but the policy decision that we have made is that, for reasons of equity, we 

Page 69



 

 

do not want to see a price differential between Oyster and contactless.  There are many things that we can do 

to raise fares, but the Mayor’s policy is not to raise fares during this term.  Therefore, we will abide by it. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  In terms of looking at fares, some of the figures we were looking at in the 

briefing we had before this meeting showed that at peak times, particularly in the morning, numbers still keep 

going up and up.  Of course when you are planning your transport network, you have to have a big enough 

network to meet that peak demand and that often is not needed then throughout the day.  Are you looking 

at how you can spread that peak demand and will you look at considering other sorts of fares, whether it is 

increasing at peak but slightly reducing before the peak, to try to get people to travel earlier to spread the 

load? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  We have 

a very active travel demand management unit within TfL and they work very actively on areas where there are 

particular problems with the morning peak, especially when we are doing major works as we are doing at 

Kennington right now.  Again, we can use softer measures like providing people with the right kind of 

information and providing people with alternatives, and that is what we have been doing.  There is more 

information that is available now about -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  I am talking about future fares and what planning you are doing. 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  On the 

question on fares and around peak pricing, it is worth just unpacking what that means.  The first thing is that 

people’s willingness to change their time of travel is actually quite low.  That is something that we have seen 

not just from the fact that we have a higher peak fare in the mornings and afternoons, but also the 

experience of other cities like Singapore that have done quite extreme things in terms of peak pricing.  

People’s willingness to change that time of travel is very limited.  If you want to change the behaviour of a 

large number of people, the sort of price differentials that we would be talking about would be quite large.  

We also have to keep in mind that the social impact of something of that kind is not good because the people 

with the least flexibility on their time of travel are also typically the people on the lowest incomes.  That is 

one of the reasons why they have not done anything of that kind before and it is unlikely to happen for 

exactly those reasons. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  It is something you have looked at in the past, but it not something you are 

looking to do in order to meet demand? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  We are more likely to look at how we 

can try to stimulate some demand in the off-peak. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  All right.  Thank you.  That is helpful. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  The figures we are looking at show that the peak - and this might be anecdotal but a 

lot of us use the Tube system to try to get to City Hall and I speak as a very squashed Northern line passenger 

coming up from the south - the peak actually seems to be getting more intense.  If you are looking at 

demand management, particularly in that period from 8.00am to 9.00am, when I see signs on the southern 

stretch of the Northern line stations saying, “This is the really busy time.  Please use another time for travel”, 

Page 70



 

 

it does not really seem to be working.  That peak seems to be getting even steeper.  Is there really nothing 

that we can do to even persuade people to come at 7.45am instead of 8.00am?  It is really very crowded. 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  It is not 

getting steeper.  Again, this is something that we keep under very close watch.  The shape of the morning 

peak, which is how many people travel proportionately between 8.00am to 8.15am and 8.15am to 8.30am 

and so on, has not changed in the last 15 or 20 years.  What has happened is that the whole thing has gone 

up as demand has increased. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  The number of people who are travelling during that period of time has gone up. 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  It is not 

like people do not know that there is a slightly less crowded train half an hour earlier, but people do other 

things in their lives as well, including taking care of children and so on and so forth.  That is the reason we 

end up with the shape of the peak that we do.  Every transport operator would love to flatten that peak and 

have the trains full equally throughout the day, but we serve people and people have other choices that they 

have to make in their lives as well. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  The peak is double in the morning than it is at the later peak, partly because the peak 

is earlier on the return journeys; I would say linked to the fact that there is the combination in the morning of 

school plus work.  If there was more variability in terms of the time when people could drop their children at 

school, do you think that has had an impact in making this peak steeper?  There was a period when more 

schools perhaps were allowing people to drop their children off a bit earlier.  Could that have had an impact? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  We see 

the impact of school travel much more on buses than we see on the Tube.  There are very few schoolchildren 

on the Tube.  It is the fact that the parents’ lives are partly determined by children going off to school and so 

on.  The evening peak on the Tube is not half the size of the morning peak.  It is smaller than the morning 

peak but not by that much. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Sorry, lower, but not necessarily half. 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Clearly, 

anything that would enable people to live their lives a bit more flexibly would be good and would create less 

of this peak in demand for the transport system.  Those things have happened in the past.  The biggest 

impact that happened 50 years ago was when people stopped clocking into work.  That simple fact, which of 

course took 15 years to spread through the entire economy, allowed the peak to spread in the morning, but 

nothing of that scale is happening right now.  If employers were to be a bit more flexible and schools were to 

be more flexible about opening times, that would be a good thing. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Thank you, Chairman. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  We are going to move on to talk about roads now, which a number of 

Members will want to contribute on, but Assembly Member Berry is leading on that. 

 

Page 71



 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Thank you.  My questions are for Patrick on this.  I want to talk about roads and congestion 

and all of that, but I will try to stick to what affects TfL’s budget.  We have been talking about fares and how 

we are not getting enough net income from fares, but roads are making a net loss for us.  They cost us money 

every year.  I am looking at the draft results from the last financial year.  It seems like the net loss from roads 

is £411 million.  Is that roughly what we end up spending?  That is the revenue.  Then we also have capital 

expenditure on top of that.  Is that right?  Are roads costing us money and where are we getting any income 

from to cover that? 

 

Patrick Doig (Divisional Finance Director – Surface Transport, Transport for London):  It is certainly 

true that roads are costing us money on a net basis.  Our income sources for the road network are relatively 

limited.  There is the Congestion Charge and the other enforcement income streams we have, either enforcing 

the Congestion Charge or enforcing road network compliance, parking in a yellow box or on a red route. 

 

Then our costs in terms of operating, maintaining, policing and making the network safe are certainly higher 

than that.  Over the course of the Business Plan, broadly, on average, our operating costs exceed that income 

by about £200 million.  Then, on top of that, we have the cost of renewing the network, which, at a steady 

run rate, would be about £100 million to £150 million per annum.  In total our Business Plan shows that that 

total deficit in terms of a funding requirement to operate, maintain and renew our roads is between about 

£300 million and £350 million a year. 

 

That is why it is so critical that we are making the case for funding for roads because the Government’s 

support grant was the primary mechanism that we used to fund roads and it has now been taken away.  So 

far, our other access to Government funding for roads - either through the devolution of Vehicle Excise Duty 

(VED) or the other funding streams such as the Transforming Cities scheme or the Clean Air scheme - we 

have not been able to access. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Where are you getting the money from to close that £350 million gap at the moment? 

 

Patrick Doig (Divisional Finance Director – Surface Transport, Transport for London):  At the 

moment, that deficit forms part of the overall TfL deficit and, as we move to break even overall by 2021/22, 

what we will see is that the areas of TfL that make a surplus - primarily the Underground and the Elizabeth 

line - along with the business rates that the Mayor allows us to retain will be funding that deficit on roads 

along with the other parts of the public transport network that do make a deficit. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Unless we can find some other way of getting money, either from the Government or 

through other ways of raising money from the roads, it will be the farepayers who end up subsidising it rather 

than the Government? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  And businesses through business 

rates, yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Thank you very much.  We have been discussing the VED issue and how the Government is 

starting to hypothecate that nationally the first time in quite a while, creating a roads fund.  Obviously, quite 

a lot of Londoners are paying VED.  We feel - and I think the Assembly does as well and we have written to 

the Government about this - that London should be getting a share of that money just to help close this gap 

that we have on the roads, but they have very firmly rebutted our suggestions.  What is your plan for 

Page 72



 

 

devolution?  Are there any other avenues we can pursue in terms of getting money either through fuel duty 

or VED?  Are we working with other cities to try to make the case? 

 

Patrick Doig (Divisional Finance Director – Surface Transport, Transport for London):  I will ask 

Simon to come in.  There is one particular avenue that the Department for Transport (DfT) is currently 

consulting on, which is looking at a Major Road Network in England.  It is starting to recognise that there are 

other strategically important roads in England in particular, because that is what this is focused on, that are 

not just Highways England’s roads.  At the back end of last year, it launched a consultation on defining what 

it called a Major Road Network, which sat beneath Highways England’s Strategic Road Network, and it 

potentially could allow and redirect some of that road fund to supporting those roads.  It is fair to say that 

most of the roads that it had indicated were part of that Major Road Network were outside of London; for 

instance, no roads inside the North or South Circulars were defined as major roads under that consultation. 

 

We have responded in conjunction with London Councils and the London boroughs with our thoughts about 

that.  We have also worked with some other cities, including Manchester, to make the case that urban roads 

have a different characteristic than rural roads or trunk roads such as motorways and you cannot use 

sustained definitions to work out what a strategic road is in those particular environments.  We responded to 

that consultation earlier this year and we are awaiting the results of the DfT’s response to that consultation. 

 

That could potentially be an avenue for some funding for roads, but under the current framework it will be a 

case of cities or regions bidding for projects that fall under the Major Road Network for that Government 

funding.  It is not the regular ongoing maintenance and renewal of the roads that we need in London and so 

it could be a part of a solution but it is far from a perfect solution and we have made that case to the 

Government. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Even if we did win the right to bid into the fund, it would still be a defined major project 

and bid for it process rather than just devolved funding that we could use for our deficit? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  Yes.  On that particular pathway, yes.  

There is likely to be a spending review next year and we will be making the case for funding in the context of 

that spending review. 

 

We are also, as Patrick said, working with the other major urban centres and the National Infrastructure 

Commission to help inform the National Infrastructure Assessment, which is due out in the next couple of 

months and which will provide that independent view of the country’s infrastructure needs and the funding 

required to support it for the Treasury to base its fiscal remit on for infrastructure in the spending review.  We 

would be very actively involved with other cities and the Infrastructure Commission on that and that does 

include the parts on roads as well as rail infrastructure. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Thank you.  The Mayor’s Transport Strategy says that TfL will be investigating new ways of 

doing road charging.  At the moment, we receive from the Congestion Charge around about £300 million or 

just below that each year, and that is a fairly static bit of income, is it not?  As far as I remember, the last time 

I looked at it, it was about the same. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  It has been declining year on year.  As 

a policy tool, the more successful it is, the less income we get from it.  It has been very successful in policy 

Page 73



 

 

terms and, therefore, is contributing less in terms of income because it was not designed as an income stream 

to support the road network; it was designed to reduce congestion and latterly improve air quality.  We are 

expecting, over the course of this Business Plan, the amount of money from the Congestion Charge to 

continue to reduce, but we have new streams such as the Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) and the Toxicity 

Charge, which again are policy tools but will contribute some income to helping maintain the road network. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  There are different types and it is very complicated trying to explain the different ULEZs 

and what time they come in and all of that.  Quite a lot of that is not coming in until 2020 and 2021.  During 

this term, what other income do you expect to get from road-base charging in total? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  The 

ULEZ in the central area is being delivered in April 2019 and that will start to generate income from 

April 2019.  There is nothing else committed apart from the order that the Mayor signed last week, which is 

what we call ‘ULEZ inner’, which is between the North and South Circular Roads, and that is due to come in in 

September or October 2021. 

 

Patrick Doig (Divisional Finance Director – Surface Transport, Transport for London):  There are 

two features of the ULEZ income.  Firstly, it will decline at a time because it is a tool to increase compliance.  

It is not a sustainable, ongoing income source in of itself.  Secondly, there is a net operating surplus that the 

scheme will generate under our current predictions and that is funding the investment in the TfL fleet that we 

need to improve emissions such as the cleaner buses and the other fleet improvements that we are making.  

There is actually very little, if any, there to reinvest in the core roads and it does not provide that long-term 

stream. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  That makes perfect sense that you would reinvest that to do the thing you are trying to do.  

Therefore, the fairer road pricing seems to be the next thing to look at.  We have had questions from some of 

the Members here about issues about the cordon-based schemes that we have at the moment; the unfairness, 

for example, if you are just outside the new zone and you need to pop in just for one trip for a doctor’s 

appointment, and you pay the daily charge.  We have the same thing going on in the Congestion Charge 

Zone.  There are quite a lot of people calling for a more sophisticated distance-based charge or something 

like and there has been for quite a while. 

 

We have had this published, which is the Integrated Transport Planning (ITP) report that came that TfL 

commissioned, looking at different options for reducing congestion, many of which would bring in income as 

well, and so I just wanted to ask you about a couple of the recommendations in this and how far you are in 

taking those forward. 

 

In terms of a more distance-based, technology-based road pricing model, how far on are you with developing 

that since this report came out? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  I am going to ask Shashi in his 

Strategy Director role. 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Even if 

you go back 20 years, which is when various reports were done including the road charging options for 

London, there were many different instruments that were looked at including a cordon charge, an area charge 

Page 74



 

 

or a distance-based charge.  The Congestion Charge is not a cordon charge; it is an area charge.  If you drive 

anywhere in that area, you pay, whereas a cordon charge would just be a charge for crossing the cordon. 

 

The reason that the area charge was chosen back then is that, at that time, 2001, no one was confident that 

anything more sophisticated could be made to work.  Now that we have seen 15 years of the Congestion 

Charge working, we should not forget that this was quite a difficult thing to deliver back then, but it was 

recognised even back then that this was a blunter instrument than people would like to have. 

 

The ability to move from an area-based charge to something more sophisticated exists now.  Things like 

Global Positioning System (GPS) technology have advanced sufficiently where a different mechanism could 

be used.  However, as we all know, getting something of that kind to be accepted by the people is not an 

easy thing to do.  Technologically, we are now confident that were we required to do a distance-based 

charge, something that is based on distance, time of day, congestion or the area in which you are driving, 

could we make charging work on that basis?  The answer to that is yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  You have written up these ideas with a timetable now for TfL to look at.  Is this being 

considered as a number of options?  Politically, it is incredibly sensitive and there is no strong political 

support for it yet, but in terms of practical options, this is a written-up proposal? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  As part 

of my strategy role and as part of my technology role, we are constantly reviewing the art of the possible, not 

just on this but on many other things.  There is not a firm proposal or anything of this kind, but we do 

investigate all the time what we can do with technology not just on road charging but also on signalling and 

various other things.  We know what the art of the possible is. 

 

We also look at what is happening in other cities, principally Singapore, where they are now implementing 

what they call Electronic Road Pricing version 2 (ERP 2), which is going to be distance-based and it is going 

to be based on GPS.  We are in very close touch with what is happening in Singapore as in other cities to see 

what the art of the possible is. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Are you going to publish anything that people who might be developing policies or thinking 

about the options for the future can look at and see where you are up to with this? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  If you 

want to know what is possible in terms of technology, then, in addition to what we can tell you, it is just 

worth looking at what Singapore is doing because -- 

 

Sian Berry AM:  This is how it would work in London; other implications to do with data protection.  These 

are not the things to discuss during this meeting, but part of the reason it is politically difficult is things to do 

with danger protection and things like that.  This would be worth discussing in a London context and 

something that relates to London.  This report is really valuable in that it looks at the effects of congestion on 

London and the various different options there are for helping to reduce it, some of which are planning and 

are being done, but there is still only a very short section on the options for road pricing.  It just seems like we 

are not any further on than we were two years ago at the mayoral election in terms of what can be discussed 

in public about how it would work in London. 

 

Page 75



 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  We are 

not planning to publish anything right now, but what I can say is, from technology and data protection and all 

those perspectives, we can make this work. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  That is kind of what we were told at the Plenary meeting.  I wonder if maybe we could get 

this discussed in a private briefing like we have done with the commercial side of TfL.  Again, we have not 

been able to discuss a lot of that in public because there are commercial sensitivities.  With this one, there are 

political sensitivities, but it might be useful to get a briefing from you in private. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  We can certainly talk about the 

technological aspects of it.  We are not going to -- 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes, what is possible rather than what we want. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  Yes.  We are not going to seek to 

address the policy. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes, but we do want to know something about it and - we are in the Budget [and 

Performance] Committee here - the implications for how much it could raise and what a fair scheme would 

be.  All of those things might be worth discussing as soon as possible.  It seems like it has been like that for a 

number of years. 

 

Another question about another recommendation and another option that we have under current powers 

without any devolution is developing workplace parking levies.  Again, Nottingham did this six years ago now, 

it turns out from looking at the dates.  They have had that in place and no assessment of Nottingham’s 

workplace parking levy comes to the conclusion that there is any real downside to this.  What are we doing in 

terms of looking at that and trying to talk to the boroughs?  I know some boroughs are looking at it on their 

own account now and so there must come a point when it is worth talking about having a scheme. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  Yes, we are talking to the boroughs in 

the context of some borough-specific schemes at the moment and we are following with interest what is 

happening in Nottingham and other places, but, again, those are at very early stages at the moment based 

upon thinking about we you might pay for additional pieces of infrastructure, particularly locally.  We are 

talking to some boroughs about that.  Different boroughs have different attitudes to workplace parking 

levies.  It is perhaps one to pick up with Alex Williams from City Planning [TfL]. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  That would be really useful.  One of the benefits of the workplace parking scheme is that 

you are taxing things that stay still.  They do not move around London.  You could have them on a very 

piecemeal basis, in fact. 

 

Patrick Doig (Divisional Finance Director – Surface Transport, Transport for London):  A workplace 

parking levy is a tool that the boroughs would have to implement on a borough-by-borough basis.  It is not a 

policy that TfL could implement, as we understand it -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  It is.  It is in the GLA Act. 

 

Page 76



 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Either the Mayor or the boroughs can implement it. 

 

Patrick Doig (Divisional Finance Director – Surface Transport, Transport for London):  Apologies.  

We certainly offered support to boroughs that were willing to look at it within their boroughs and that has  

been one of the things that we have been concentrating on at the moment. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  The thing that is in prospect is borough schemes and smaller-scale schemes, not a London 

wide scheme of any kind, or even within the Congestion Charging Zone you would not consider that? 

 

Patrick Doig (Divisional Finance Director – Surface Transport, Transport for London):  There are no 

firm plans for that at the moment. 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  It is not 

something under active consideration from TfL but, as Simon says, there are boroughs that are looking at this 

and we are in discussions with them. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  From a Budget [and Performance] Committee point of view, then, it is not 

something that we would be considering because any income, if it is done on a borough level, will go to the 

borough, presumably. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Would it?  See, that is the point, is it not?  I do not understand that last 

intervention because it was always clear in the Act for the workplace levies.  If you are in a financial crisis, 

then you have to consider all options.  Are you saying that if there are local carpark levies, then that money 

would go back into the boroughs and not to TfL?  Is that a policy decision? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  That is our understanding, but we will 

certainly take it away and come back to you with a clearer response. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  OK.  We can sweep that up in the letter that we write to you afterwards. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  The implications seem to be that it might also subsidise schemes within boroughs. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  That is what I had heard, yes. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Not all parking is provided by specific workplace locations.  There are big private 

operators that have very sophisticated monitoring of who goes in and out of their carparks.  I have spoken to, 

for example, APCOA [Parking], which has all the car parks at Heathrow Airport and also operates in various 

different boroughs across London.  Have you entered into discussions, for example, with them about 

potentially adding a parking levy that would come to you when people are bringing their cars, as one might 

say possibly, unnecessarily into parts of London when they should not be?  Of course, because they can 

identify vehicles with number plates because they use number plate recognition, the levy could be higher if 

people were bringing in diesel vehicles, which we would prefer that they did not, and the same if they were 

bringing in petrol, and it could be lower if they were bringing in electric or hybrid.  Is that something you have 

been looking into with APCOA and other providers? 

 

Page 77



 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Just to 

be clear, we do not have any powers to put a price on private carparks. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  I thought that was what we were saying was a possibility. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  No, workplace carparks. 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  We have 

powers for workplace parking levies in the GLA Act and there is a very different set of powers in the Transport 

Act for the boroughs, but not for private parking. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  We would not be able to prevent that in some way or get them to -- if you spoke to 

them, they might be willing to have some sort of system of chargeable levels, which might help your budget 

and driving people away from cars and back into public transport. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  All right.  Just to go back, we are concerned about the finances here, the 

pounds, shillings and pence, and then there are issues of transport policy.  I just want to be assured that the 

money being raised by the Low Emission Zone is going to come back directly into TfL for its use either as a 

contribution to, as someone said, cleaner buses or dealing with the potholes on your roads or whatever.  Is 

that the case or is that money going to be diverted back maybe into this building?  Is it TfL’s money that is 

going to be generated by that?  Are you finance people - and I am speaking to you, Simon - holding your 

own on that to try to protect where the money needs to come back into transport for use by TfL?  It could be 

used for mitigation on air quality, accepted, but it stays within the organisation.  Is that what it is for use for: 

transport projects? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  That has been agreed?  All right.  My next question is small beer but very 

important in terms of the debate.  Have we resolved, with the Silvertown Tunnel decision, the issue around 

tolling and the thinking on that?  Where are you finance people on tolling versus maybe some other transport 

policy about differential tolling in terms of trying to encourage behaviour?  What I am trying to get at is the 

driver here.  Is the driver to increase funds into TfL to deal with its immediate problems and to fill the budget 

holes that we have that are growing bigger rather than lesser?  What is the driver and where are you in those 

debates?  Never mind politicians coming into it.  Where are you as officers? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  On the Silvertown Tunnel, the 

strategy is very clear.  The toll is there on the Blackwall Tunnel and then Silvertown when it is built to enable 

the Silvertown Tunnel to be taken forward by the private sector to construct, maintain and operate it and 

deliver that piece of infrastructure on our behalf.  There is a very clear financial rationale for the private sector 

to deliver that really necessary piece of infrastructure for us.  The toll has been constructed and will be set at 

a level when we get to the awarded contracts and into construction that will support that contract over many 

years to build and operate the tunnel. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  We control that toll? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  We control the toll. 

Page 78



 

 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  We control the toll and then the variations on that could happen? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  OK.  I have one more question, which is separate from that, just 

understanding that, but maybe I will pick it up after Sian’s [Berry AM] question. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  We will come back to you on that.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Just following up from what Assembly Member Duvall was saying, in terms of 

you looking at that tolling, are you also looking at Rotherhithe Tunnel?  Inevitably, if Silvertown goes ahead 

and you are tolling the other two tunnels, Rotherhithe is going to end up having to be tolled, as far as I can 

see. 

 

Patrick Doig (Divisional Finance Director – Surface Transport, Transport for London):  The transport 

modelling we did as part of our application for the development consent order showed no material impact on 

Rotherhithe Tunnel that would justify a user charge on that tunnel. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Really?  OK.  Will that be kept under review? 

 

Patrick Doig (Divisional Finance Director – Surface Transport, Transport for London):  Yes, we will 

be monitoring this as part of the obligations in the development consent. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  It goes to the heart of the question I raised earlier, then?  OK, so that is 

on transport modelling and you have reserved the issue on that.  However, your financial situation says, 

“There is an opportunity here.  I must use it”.  Where are you making that case financially to say, “It is all 

right for you guys on transport modelling, but we have a bit of a problem here in terms of our deficit and we 

want to reduce it”?   

 

I do not understand that answer.  Has that conversation taken place then and you have lost out politically 

because someone took that decision or is it still in play?  It does seem to me this contradiction, and I get it.  If 

you are telling me it is not, I disagree with you.  People, if they want to avoid a toll at Silvertown, will go to 

Rotherhithe and we will be stacking up a problem, and you will come back a year later because that is a 

get-out-of-jail for you to impose a toll.  I do not understand it.  If you are in a financial crisis of one degree or 

another - and we know we have deficits in terms of surface transport on our roads and we do not have 

enough money and we are not even breaking even to maintain our roads and those surfaces - why is that not 

a factor in those conversations about tolling at Rotherhithe, which inevitably you are going to have to do? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  The first thing I would say is that we 

are not in a financial crisis.  We have planned for this level of deficit -- 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Please. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  -- and we have a plan that we believe 

will deliver.  We have shown that we can deliver over the last two years and you will judge us on our delivery. 

Page 79



 

 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes, your forecasts are wrong and continually we are waiting until the end 

of the three years.  We had a little conversation earlier on and you did not agree or whatever.  I am saying you 

are going to come back and say that these deficits are going to continue.  What we did agree on: if the deficit 

continues at the end of that three years and you are missing your targets, it would not be good for this 

organisation and not good for the services you run.  That is what I think we did agree on. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  I absolutely agree with you that 

maintaining a deficit would be -- 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  When does a deficit of this magnitude become a crisis or not? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  It is not a crisis -- 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  On a scale of one to ten we have come in at six. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  -- inasmuch as we knew it was 

coming and we planned for it and we are delivering our budgets.  We have delivered our budgets for the last 

two years; we will deliver our budget this year.  If we continue on that, we will deliver the net operating 

surplus in 2021/22. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Let us go back to my original question, then.  If it is not a crisis and you 

are looking out for opportunities to raise income for TfL to add to the budget to deal with its services, where 

are you in that conversation on whether Rotherhithe comes into the conversation or does not?  I accept that 

politicians will make the final say, but where are you as officers in terms of reducing this deficit or raising 

income for TfL?  Where do you sit on that?  What is your position?  Where are we on Rotherhithe?  Is it in or 

is it out?  Was it based on transport modelling and policy issues or was it based on financial opportunities that 

TfL might wish to grasp but may choose not to? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  If I can 

just make one factual intervention here, under the GLA Act, any pricing mechanism for roads has to be policy 

driven.  We cannot introduce a new pricing mechanism for roads just because we want to raise revenue.  The 

fact that Patrick is saying that it is driven by modelling is absolutely accurate and we do not have the leeway 

to just impose a charge on Rotherhithe - or indeed any other section of the road network - just because we 

want to raise revenue. 

 

You are quite right in saying that if the future ends up being more pessimistic than what we have, then, yes, 

we would have to react to that.  That is exactly what we are doing week by week, month by month, quarter 

by quarter, and further cost-cutting and other things will need to happen as a result of it.  However, there are 

some things that are not possible under the statutes under which we work, and imposing a charge on roads 

just to raise revenue is one of those. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  That is an interesting point because that takes me back to the conversation 

you had just a moment ago with Assembly Member Berry around road user pricing.  I take the point you make 

about Rotherhithe.  My understanding of what you have just said is that the reason that Blackwall will need 

Page 80



 

 

to be tolled alongside Silvertown is to stop people from just going down Blackwall for free and not using 

Silvertown. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  Causing congestion. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  The modelling you have done suggests that people would not divert to 

Rotherhithe to avoid paying a charge and so you cannot, therefore, impose a charge because there is no 

policy reason to do it on that basis.  What would be your policy grounds for introducing road user pricing if it 

is not income? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  

Congestion; air quality; equity in terms of who pays for the transport system in London.  There are many 

policy reasons for that and there is no doubt that if a road price were to come in, much like the Congestion 

Charge, it will create income. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Do you not get air quality and congestion problems around Rotherhithe? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Not for 

the reasons around Silvertown.  You can make an argument about any section of the road.  You can make 

that argument about Putney Bridge.  There are air quality problems on Putney Bridge but no one is talking 

about road pricing just about Putney Bridge. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Some people might. 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Some 

people might.  We have to separate out the policy issues here -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  No, no one is demanding that, Len. 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  The 

policy issue here is about acute congestion around the Blackwall area for which Silvertown is being built and 

the two of them will get tolled together because that is what is needed to relieve congestion in that area. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  I understand the rationale.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  I just want to go back to Assembly Member Berry’s question.  You did not 

answer it.  The Mayor’s Transport Strategy states, “TfL is investigating road pricing”, and so what are you 

actually doing? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  I did 

answer that, which is that we are looking at all sorts of technology options in terms of what is possible and 

what is not, and that is very different from the policy and the politics around this, which, as you know, are not 

easy.  The reason I made the point very firmly that we think we can make the technology work is that we have 

been looking at it. 

 

Page 81



 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  You are looking at technology.  Will that at some point be going to a meeting 

at TfL, whether it is an internal meeting or one of the formal TfL Board meetings? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  

Internally within TfL, of course, all the work that I do around technology and strategy is being discussed 

internally, but there is no report that we are about to publish on this. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  There are internal reports, but nothing -- so there is work going on and then, 

if you are then given the policy steer to detail it, then you would work something up?  That is great.  That is 

what I wanted to clarify.  Thank you. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  I have two more questions about congestion.  One of the recommendations in the ITP 

report which was commissioned was to change the current Congestion Charge and in some ways that might 

increase its effectiveness.  You said before that its effectiveness has waned over time.  One of the options is 

potentially doing longer hours - we are seeing a mini peak just after 7.00pm now when the current 

Congestion Charge ends - and also particularly to include private hire vehicles.  Are you looking at those 

options as well?  I do not know who is going to answer that. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  Patrick, do you want to pick up on 

private hire vehicles first? 

 

Patrick Doig (Divisional Finance Director – Surface Transport, Transport for London):  On private 

hires, we are currently undertaking analysis of the impact of removing the exemption that private hire vehicles 

have currently for the Congestion Charge.  We are towards the final stages of that.  Depending on the results 

of that analysis, a consultation may follow later this year. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  What about increasing maybe the hours or having it at weekends, when it currently does 

not operate? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  The Mayor’s manifesto ruled out any 

increase in the Congestion Charge itself during this mayoral term. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  You cannot look at that until there is a new Mayor asking you to, effectively?  OK.  Then 

finally, we talked before about how bus revenue is declining and that is a real problem.  We know that one of 

the reasons for that is congestion, particularly in the central area of London.  How are you going to increase 

bus revenue without doing something quite drastic about congestion? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  I will ask Patrick to pick up on the bus 

network and he can explain the work that we are doing to think about how we reshape the bus network to 

deliver a service where people -- 

 

Sian Berry AM:  The question is about congestion, though.  What can you do without doing something 

about congestion that is affecting its use? 

 

Page 82



 

 

Patrick Doig (Divisional Finance Director – Surface Transport, Transport for London):  There has 

been a long-term trend of declining bus speeds over five, six or seven years.  Last year, we saw that trend 

reverse and bus speeds stabilised.  There are some signs that bus speeds are now improving. 

 

That has been the result of a lot of work we have been doing because we had got to the point where bus 

speed was becoming a really important factor in people’s decisions about using the bus or not, particularly in 

some locations at some times of day.  The work we have been doing has a number of different avenues. 

 

Firstly, we have been delivering large amounts of bus priority.  Last year we delivered 120 bus priority 

schemes in London and, over the course of the Business Plan, we have broadly £100 million to invest in bus 

priority, which is physical changes to the highway to improve the speed of buses through traffic.  We have 

been doing that for some time. 

 

The second avenue is something that is slightly newer and is having more of an impact.  We have been 

looking at signal timings and considering how signal timing changes can speed buses.  Under the previous 

mayoral administration, we would not have optimised a set of signals particularly for buses.  We would have 

looked at the overall traffic flows going through that junction.  Now we are looking at those junctions which 

are in particular bottlenecks for buses and looking at how to optimise those timings particularly for buses. 

 

Going over and above that, we have been able to install technology that identifies, broadly, when buses are 

running late.  In London, that means the headways between buses are not what we are looking for.  It can 

specifically optimise the signals to allow those late running buses to catch up.  That is much more effective 

than making a change that would impact all buses or all vehicles going through a junction.  Some of those 

really quite innovative changes that we are making are starting to make a difference in terms of bus speeds, 

and that is quite an important factor as we believe it in terms of those speed stabilising.  Over the last six to 

12 months, there have been some signs those speeds can increase. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  This is the average speed of a bus? 

 

Patrick Doig (Divisional Finance Director – Surface Transport, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  In central London, you have been reducing the amount of buses, and so is that not how you 

have worked out the average?  If you reduce the number of congesting buses contributing to the average, 

surely that is what is going to happen. 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Buses 

themselves do not cause the congestion buses in terms of the number of vehicles moving on the road. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  No, I am not saying that.  I am just saying that there are fewer buses running in central 

London -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Yes, to get congested. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  -- and therefore not contributing to the congestion but contributing to the average speed. 

 

Page 83



 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  Buses in 

central London are a very small proportion of the overall bus fleet.  They are very visible, of course, but they 

are a very small proportion of the overall bus fleet. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  They are also the most delayed. 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  What has 

happened, even before that reduction was made, is that traffic speeds had started stabilising and indeed 

improving.  That is how we are getting a slightly -- on average, bus speeds in central London are lower than 

they are in outer London.  Removing a few of these buses will increase these speeds on average, but that is 

very marginal compared to the fact that traffic itself has been stabilising. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  My question is going back to the one about the private hire vehicles and the massive 

increase that we have seen, 66% in the last few years, 47,000 registered in 2013/14 and 90,000 registered 

last year, and yet we still see that across all modes of travel there has been a decline in travel across all the 

modes.  If you talk to taxi drivers about this, there are an awful lot of vehicles on the roads in the centre of 

London that are driving around and causing congestion that do not even have passengers in them. 

 

Is it not time to start to get this under control and to charge these vehicles for coming in and creating 

congestion and also damaging air quality?  Is it not absolutely time that we did something about this?  If you 

are saying that this is something that you have within your powers to do, is this not now an urgent matter for 

us to be tackling? 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Can we get a brief answer on this, please?  This is not about the policy.  

This is the Budget and Performance Committee.  A brief answer on that and then we will move on. 

 

Patrick Doig (Divisional Finance Director – Surface Transport, Transport for London):  We have 

already said that we have identified that as a potential issue.  We are conducting the analysis.  We are towards 

the final stages on that.  Depending on the results of that analysis, a consultation will follow later this year. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  How soon? 

 

Patrick Doig (Divisional Finance Director – Surface Transport, Transport for London):  That will 

depend on the results of the analysis. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  This is a subject that we will sweep up in the letter that we will write to you 

all afterwards and perhaps we can have a written response in advance of our next meeting. 

 

We are going to move on to talk about another segment of TfL’s income-raising area.  Graeme Craig has been 

sitting here very patiently indeed for quite a while.   

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  Thank you, Chairman.  Good afternoon.  You want to return TfL, Graeme, to a net 

surplus by 2021/22.  These plans depend on a substantial increase in income not least from commercial 

sources.  You are budgeting for a large increase in this particular revenue stream over the next five years from 

£232 million to £351 million. 

 

Page 84



 

 

Is this overoptimistic in the context of a poor previous performance?  Given this scenario, how far can 

commercial revenue go towards supporting the core transport network? 

 

Graeme Craig (Director of Commercial Development, Transport for London):  We have been 

successful in growing our commercial revenues.  I work closely and I work for Simon as part of his wider 

finance and commercial team, and there is no doubt that in order to grow commercial revenues further we 

need to work evermore closely across the rest of the organisation.  We are looking at advertising, retail, 

housing, telecoms, consultancy.  I suspect that we will talk about estate management.  There is a broad range 

of levers at our disposal.  Fundamentally, we have a fantastic asset base across London and still huge footfall 

on a daily basis.  I am confident that we can generate the commercial returns that are in the Business Plan to 

reinvest in the transport network. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  Just to pick up on that, if I heard you correctly, you said you have been fairly good at 

increasing commercial revenue, but the information I have in front of me from my briefing paper is that TfL’s 

annual accounts show that last year advertising revenue, which is the bulk of your commercial revenue 

stream, was £7.3 million under budget.  We asked the Commissioner [of TfL] about this earlier this year - 

3 January [2018], in fact - and he told us that he did not know the reasons why. 

 

Graeme Craig (Director of Commercial Development, Transport for London):  We, at any point in time 

across the different workstreams, will have challenges in particular areas.  At the moment, the advertising 

market is flat and that is affecting us particularly in the London Underground estate.  Clearly, we are keen 

that we maximise the revenue from commercial activity.  Whilst we underperformed in advertising particularly 

driven on the London Underground contract, we overdelivered on property, overdelivered on advertising on 

bus shelters, and also cut down on our costs.  The numbers that I am driven by and the numbers against 

which I am measured are net financial return to the organisation and that really is the key measure that we 

will focus on going forward. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  To be more specific, are there any particular proposals that you are considering 

currently to raise commercial revenue?  What else is TfL Consulting working on?  Can you be more specific? 

 

Graeme Craig (Director of Commercial Development, Transport for London):  Let us talk about the 

broader range of activities that we are involved in.  We are keen to grow revenue from property, specifically 

housing, with TfL having more of a focus on generating long-term revenue and so, therefore, TfL moving into 

the build-to-rent portfolio for our property.  We know that that is going to be particularly attractive because, 

by definition, the property that we are building is immediately adjacent to the transport network and that is 

attractive particularly for build-to-rent.  That is one focus. 

 

Another one is on retail.  I know there are challenges in that sector, but it is still attractive immediately around 

stations.  There are a number of stations - not least South Kensington - where we are looking to enhance the 

offer of our station retail. 

 

Also, on telecoms, last week we began the procurement of a partner.  That partner will roll out 4G coverage 

underground.  We will then build on that 4G coverage underground in order to create a large fibre network 

across London, which will both generate - potentially - substantial returns to TfL and also go a long way 

towards addressing connectivity issues across London.  Also on telecoms, we will be looking to support the 

rollout of 5G by placing small mobile phone base stations on our street infrastructure. 

Page 85



 

 

 

Also on consultancy, we announced on 15 May [2018] - and she started on 4 June - that Helen Murphy is 

coming in as the Director of Consulting and International Operations.  Helen’s first job, really, is to set up the 

team, the structure, the governance arrangements and also the strategy to set out clearly what type of work 

we will be doing, where in the world we will be doing that work and with whom we will be working.  I see in 

this area an opportunity, clearly.  We get requests that come in every week, most days, requests from around 

the world.  We are seen as being the leading transport authority in a number of different areas and there are a 

large number of cities that are keen to learn from us and to work with us. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  I am conscious of the time, Chairman.  I will finish very quickly.  You talked about 

international work.  We do know that TfL Consulting is bidding to run the Buenos Aires Métro.  I am very 

conscious we are in public and I can understand your reluctance to talk about this particular bid in any sort of 

detail and so I respect that, but can you tell us very generally where you are in the big scheme of things with 

this particular bid?  Again very generally, how will it help your financial projections? 

 

Graeme Craig (Director of Commercial Development, Transport for London):  We have made no 

decision to bid.  As I say, where we are at the moment is Helen has come in and Helen is looking across a 

range of options.  We need to be clear ourselves about what our focus is going to be on.   

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  Sorry.  You have not made a decision to bid? 

 

Graeme Craig (Director of Commercial Development, Transport for London):  No. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  The press report on 30 May 2018 in The Guardian is inaccurate? 

 

Graeme Craig (Director of Commercial Development, Transport for London):  I know it seems 

astonishing that there might be -- 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  The Guardian got something wrong?  That is astonishing. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  Chairman, I am conscious of the time.  Sorry.  In terms of international operations, you 

say you are at the leading edge.  Are there other systems around the world?  I am thinking particularly in India 

where the metro system is mushrooming all over the place.  Are you in talks or looking at that?  The Delhi 

Metro, for example, is a very major project.  This is the last question. 

 

Graeme Craig (Director of Commercial Development, Transport for London):  Do you want to talk 

about the memorandum of understanding (MoU) that we have? 

 

Shashi Verma (Director of Strategy and Chief Technology Officer, Transport for London):  The 

Delhi Metro is not available for anyone to go and bid on.  We have signed an MoU with the Ministry of Road 

Transport and Highways in the Government of India only about six months ago.  In fact, I went out and 

signed this with Minister Gadkari in January [2018].  That is the national ministry and it is looking at transport 

reforms across the whole country, the main focus of which is the bus network nationally.  The Ministry of 

Road Transport and Highways funds the bus network nationally and we are now engaged with them.  In fact, 

there is a whole delegation coming from India as part of this MoU later on this month to start the process of 

bus reforms in India. 

Page 86



 

 

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  Chairman, perhaps we could return to this topic sometime in the future. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  That is a very good idea. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  I am conscious of the time and so I will leave it at that. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  I am, too.  There is a sweep-up issue but I am not going to ask for an 

answer now.  Just to alert you, Graeme, what you said about TfL getting into the build-to-rent market is very 

interesting.  It implies a very large capital outlay and then a return over a considerable period of time.  When 

we write to you guys, we are going to ask for a bit more information on that and so you can break that down 

for us -- 

 

Graeme Craig (Director of Commercial Development, Transport for London):  Yes, of course. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  -- because that is an interesting development.  It is one that I was not 

aware of until now.  However, we are very pressed for time and so I do not want to get into the ins and outs 

of that at this point. 

 

We are going to move on to the final section and. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Perhaps in that correspondence we can find out whether this MoU with the 

Government in India is going to generate income because that is what we are interested in.  I would also like 

to understand Crossrail International - or whatever it is called - and whether TfL will be getting any funding 

from that, something the Chair of Crossrail was talking to Transport Committee Members about last week. 

 

I want to look at savings and reducing expenditure.  Simon, I am going to rattle through this.  Really, you 

have said that you think you are on track to deliver your planned savings programme, but if fare revenue was 

under budget, what other cost savings are you going to be pursuing? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  Again, I will go back to the example 

of last year when we needed to find some £200 million of in-year savings.  They came from further controls 

around the use of consultancy, looking at the amount of people we needed and the vacancies in particular, 

not recruiting -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Hold vacancies, reduce consultants. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  -- hold vacancies, stop projects, 

particularly information technology (IT) projects or other back-office projects rather than transport-related 

projects, and generally look at the expenditure that does not have an impact on service delivery and continue 

to focus on how we can not only make those savings in-year but make those savings recurring.  We learned a 

lot over the course of the last 12 months. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Given the financial pressures you are clearly under, how can you justify payoff 

packages of over £50 million in the last year? 

 

Page 87



 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  The severance costs related to the 

modernisation and transformation programme were part of the costs of delivering over £600 million of 

savings.  All of the payments within those severance packages were fully in line with our policy and fully in 

line with the contractual obligations we have to our staff. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Were they all contractual or were some discretionary? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  All of the savings related to the 

modernisation are in line with our policy, which is approved by the Mayor and the TfL Board and has been 

agreed over many years with the trade unions.  Any severance packages - there are different types of 

severance; we have different reasons for severance - were in line with the contractual obligations to those 

employees. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  We might get some clarification on that in writing as well. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  The thing I should say is the Mayor 

has clearly instituted a review and so everything we have done has been in line with our current policy, which 

of course could always be improved.  We are engaging fully with the Commission to look at our policies going 

forward and our practices going forward. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  The Mayor may well have put in that review and I am sure he will look at that, 

but he is Chair of the TfL Board and so he probably should have been aware of this.  I am surprised that it has 

been able to go ahead.  We will look at that, I am sure, at a later date. 

 

If you are struggling financially, are we going to see more investments cancelled, such as we saw with the new 

trains for the Jubilee and Northern lines, which were cancelled?  Might we see that if you really are not able 

to make savings elsewhere? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  When we looked at the overall 

financial situation in the last Business Plan - and we look continuously at the projects that we are working on 

to see if they would deliver the benefits that we had expected them to - in the case of the Jubilee and 

Northern line additional trains, the investment that we had already made and continued to make in the 

signalling particularly on the Jubilee and Northern lines, with some additional expenditure that remains in the 

plan, will allow us to get to 31 to 32 trains per hour anyway.  Therefore, when we reviewed again the case to 

buy the additional trains now, we decided that the balance of benefits versus expenditure was not as 

compelling as it had been when we first set out on that project a few years ago. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  That is not what I was asking you.  I was saying: might we see more 

investment cancelled like we have on those trains?  I was not asking you for the reasons.  Might we see more 

investment [cancelled] if you cannot make the savings from all of these other things that you have flagged? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  Clearly, when we have to come up 

with a legally balanced budget every year, we will look at every means at our disposal to ensure we deliver a 

balanced budget.  We would concentrate in the first instance on investments that we have planned but not 

committed to as yet for the future and we will review those in the first instance if we need to find further 

savings. 

Page 88



 

 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  I have one final question, another issue: loan interest.  It is not something that 

you seem to be addressing but, because you are raising so much finance, you are going to be paying by 

2022/23 £651 million of interest.  What are you doing to address this and are there any alternatives that you 

are looking at to reduce this cost? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Chief Finance Officer, Transport for London):  The interest costs are increasing in 

line with the increase in borrowing to finance investment.  Borrowing is an important part of our investment 

programme.  It spreads the cost over 20 to 30 years in line with the useful life of the assets rather than, for 

example, on some assets in the course of construction over five years you would otherwise have to spend that 

entire cost over five years.  We will, where we can afford to do so, continue to borrow to support our 

investment. 

 

The constraint on borrowing is that we need to generate the surplus that we have set out in our Business Plan 

in order to create more cash, to support more borrowing and to support more investment.  We have taken the 

view over many years that having fixed rates of interest is really important for us from a budgetary 

perspective because it gives certainty to the whole organisation about the cost of that borrowing.  In 

discussion with our Finance Committee, where is prudent to do so, we do forward fix elements of our 

borrowing programme.  We have that facility particularly with the European Investment Bank and Export 

Development Canada, where we have been able to lock in rates of interest for the future based upon today’s 

market rates. 

 

Again, we will continue to use every means we can to minimise the amount of interest that we pay but, 

clearly, the biggest factor in increasing interest rates is increasing borrowing. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  OK.  Thank you. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Members, we have reached the end of our questions.  I thank our guests 

very much indeed for what was an interesting discussion.  Very stout defence, chaps.  Well done.   

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 90



                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions 

Report to: Budget and Performance Committee  
 
Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 12 July 2018 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out details of actions arising from previous meetings of the Budget and Performance 

Committee.  

 

 

2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous 

meetings of the Committee. 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 12 June 2018 

Agenda 

Item 

Topic Status For action by 

4. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Transport for London (TfL) Finances 

The Committee requested the following: 

 A breakdown of the additional income expected 

to be accrued by TfL from the Elizabeth line 

during phases 1 to 3 and how the figures were 

derived, including details of the impact of any 

delays in opening the new line, the predictions 

made of people switching from other modes and 

details of the review undertaken by the 

University of Southampton; 

 Confirmation that TfL can introduce a workplace 

parking levy and whether income accrued would 

go to the boroughs or to TfL; 

 Further details on TfL’s plans to enter the  

build-to-rent market, including the size of the 

investment TfL plans to make and over what 

period; 

 Further details on the Memorandum of 

Understanding with the Government of India 

 

Ongoing. The 

Chairman wrote to 

the Chief Finance 

Officer, TfL on  

20 June 2018. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chief Finance 

Officer, TfL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 91

Agenda Item 4



Agenda 

Item 

Topic Status For action by 

and the income that is expected to be 

generated by TfL; 

 Further information about Crossrail International 

and any income that may be generated by TfL; 

 Details of the severance packages made to 

outgoing staff related to the modernisation and 

transformation programme, in particular, 

clarifying which severance packages were 

contractual and where any discretionary 

payments were made. 

 

 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 22 May 2018 

Agenda 

Item 

Topic Status For action by 

9. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

GLA Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 

The following points were agreed: 

 The Mayor’s Chief of Staff agreed to consider 

what additional baseline and historic data could 

be included in the KPIs and to report back to 

the Committee; 

 The Committee asked officers to consider 

introducing additional information, particularly 

on environmental targets, in the database to 

explain the RAG ratings, particularly where no 

targets have been set for the current year, and 

to report back to the Committee; 

 Officers agreed to consider whether interim 

targets could be included, particularly on    

zero-emission taxis, in the KPIs in order to meet 

2020 and 2025 targets, and to report back to 

the Committee; 

 The Executive Director of Housing and Land 

agreed to provide the Committee with further 

information on the GLA’s definition of a 

housing start and details of targets and 

deadlines set for each of major projects being 

undertaken by the GLA Land team; 

 The Executive Director of Housing and Land 

agreed to review PI-3 on exiting rough sleeping 

to consider whether any amendments were 

needed to suitably target hard to reach rough 

 

Ongoing. The 

Chairman wrote to 

the Mayor’s Chief 

of Staff to request 

this information on  

31 May 2018. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Mayor’s Chief of 

Staff  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 92



Agenda 

Item 

Topic Status For action by 

sleepers, and to discuss with the Assembly; 

 Further information on the KPIs expected to be 

introduced for public health issues; and 

 Further information, including the timeline, on 

the KPIs to be introduced for carbon emissions. 

 

10. Budget and Performance Committee Work 

Programme 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members and 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree the scope and 

terms of reference for an investigation into 

Transport for London’s finances. 

 

Completed 

This was noted at 

the Committee’s 

June meeting.  

 

 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 6 March 2018 

Agenda 

Item 

Topic Status For action by 

6. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

London & Partners 

The Chief Executive Officer agreed to provide the 

following: 

 Evidence to support the claim made by 

London & Partners (L&P) that London’s 

“values of tolerance and progress are 

increasingly being questioned”, and 

specifically by whom; 

 The cost to L&P of monitoring the amount of 

income received from commercial partners and 

panel members; 

 A breakdown of the gross value added by L&P 

between inner and outer London as well as by 

sector for each of the last three years; 

 Further details on the methodology and 

metrics which will underpin L&P’s Strategy, 

and the new Key Performance Indicators, as 

soon as they are agreed; 

 Details on the in-kind benefits L&P receives 

from commercial partners and panel members; 

 Further information on additional measures 

L&P could undertake to improve transparency, 

including proposals to be submitted to publish 

 

Ongoing. The 

Chairman wrote to 

London & Partners 

to request this 

information on  

22 March 2018. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

London & Partners 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 93



Agenda 

Item 

Topic Status For action by 

 

 

 

 

 

details of supplier contracts over a certain 

sum;  

 Details of L&P’s pay bandings and positions 

broken down by ethnicity and gender; and 

 A breakdown of L&P’s budget according to 

the different business elements conducted by 

the organisation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

3. Legal Implications 
 

3.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

4. Financial Implications 
 

4.1 There are no financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: None 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: MDA 947 

Contact Officer: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 5526 

E-mail: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 94



 

                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Transport for London Finances 

Report to: Budget and Performance Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 12 July 2018 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 

 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report provides information on the Committee’s consideration of Transport for London (TfL) 

finances. 

 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to putting questions to invited 

guests on TfL’s finances, and notes the discussion. 

2.2 That the Committee delegate authority to the Chairman, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree the final report for this 

investigation.  

 

3. Background   

3.1 This meeting is the second in the Committee’s investigation into TfL’s finances. In the previous 

meeting, on 12 June 2018, Committee Members challenged TfL officers about TfL’s business plan 

and its plans to reach a surplus position by 2021-22. In this second meeting the Committee will 

probe TfL’s optimism with external guests. 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The following guests have been invited to attend the meeting: 

 Richard Anderson, Director, Railway and Transport Strategy Centre, Imperial College; 

 Jonathan Roberts, Senior Writer, London Reconnections; and 

 Matt Bourn, Director of Communications, Advertising Association. 

4.2 This investigation is in response to the worrying state of TfL’s finances, with the organisation 

planning on a deficit of almost £1 billion in 2018/19. TfL has ambitious plans to come out of deficit 

and return to a surplus position by 2021/22. TfL’s plans to return to surplus hinge on substantially 

increasing income, both from fares and from commercial sources, as well as making significant cost 

savings.  

Page 95

Agenda Item 5



        

 

 

 

4.3 TfL will embark on a huge savings programme to cut costs. By 2022/23 the organisation plans to 

remove £1.2 billion. A lot of these savings are predicated on better contract management. As well 

as making efficiencies, TfL will make cuts to certain budgets. TfL is cutting its funding to boroughs 

(Local Implementation Plans) and suspending its programme of proactive road renewals. It has 

suspended plans to buy new trains that would increase capacity on the Northern and Jubilee lines, 

and will cut bus services by 7 percent over the next five years.  

 

4.4 TfL is planning for increases in fare revenue, despite recent falls in passenger numbers. The 

Committee has raised concerns over TfL’s over-optimistic fares forecasting in its last two            

Pre-Budget Reports. TfL says that it has already revised its fare forecasts downwards in light of the 

last few years. 

 

4.5 There are concerns that the fall in passenger numbers is not a blip but a permanent change. Flexible 

and remote working is growing in London and commuting journeys are falling in response. Personal 

trips into London are losing out to online deliveries. Congestion on the roads remains significant. 

Cycling is becoming a more popular way of getting around London. 

 

4.6 TfL may start exploring other more controversial ways of expanding its revenue base in future years, 

including the congestion charge and private hire vehicles. The large increase in private hire vehicles – 

an increase of 75 percent in the last four years - may warrant a response. In New York City a 

congestion zone surcharge for private hire vehicles is soon to be introduced.1  
 

4.7 The Committee is recommended to delegate authority to the Chairman, in consultation with party 

Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree the final report for this investigation. 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 
 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

List of appendices to this report: None 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers:  MDA 934 (Topic for July Meeting) 

 

Contact Officer: Will King, Financial and Policy Analyst  

Telephone: 020 7983 5592 

Email: Will.king@london.gov.uk    

 

                                                 
1 https://www.nytimes.com/2018/03/31/nyregion/congestion-pricing-new-york.html 

Page 96

mailto:Will.king@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Budget and Performance Committee 
Work Programme 

Report to: Budget and Performance Committee  
 
Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 12 July 2018 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 

1. Summary  

1.1 This report sets out proposals for the Budget and Performance Committee work programme for 

2018/19. 

2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Committee agrees its work programme for the remainder of the                

2018/19 Assembly year, including the schedule of prospective topics for forthcoming 

meetings as set out at paragraph 4.5 of the report. 

 

3. Background   

3.1 The Committee receives a report monitoring the progress of its work programme at each meeting.  

4 Issues for Consideration  

4.1 During 2018/19 the Committee will scrutinise the Mayor’s 2019/20 budget proposals for the 

Greater London Authority (GLA) Group on behalf of the London Assembly, as well as examine 

specific budget and performance issues across the GLA Group. 

4.2 Other priority topics for Committee scrutiny in 2018/19 are the finances of Transport for London 

(TfL), the GLA’s new key performance indicators, the London Legacy Development Corporation and 

London & Partners. 

TfL finances 

4.3 The Committee is investigating the finances of TfL, considering TfL’s plans to close its large budget 

deficit through increasing passenger and commercial revenue, or making savings. Today’s meeting is 

the second on this topic. External guests have been invited to today’s meeting. Further details are 

included under Agenda Item 5. 

Page 97

Agenda Item 6



        

Key performance indicators 

4.4 On 22 May 2018, the Committee met the Mayor’s Chief of Staff, David Bellamy, and other GLA 

officers to discuss the new performance indicators produced by the GLA. Mr Bellamy agreed to 

consider further changes and additions to the indicators following questions from Members. The 

Committee will continue to monitor performance against the indicators. 

Meeting timetable 

4.5 The table below sets out the scheduled future meetings of the Committee in 2018/19, and the likely 

main topics for discussion. The Committee will make further decision on meeting topics as the year 

progresses.  

Thursday 27 September 2018 London Legacy Development Corporation 

Wednesday 21 November 2018 Core GLA Budget 2019-20 

Tuesday 2 January 2019 GLA Budget – functional bodies (1) 

Thursday 3 January 2019 AM and PM GLA Budget – functional bodies (2 and 3) 

Tuesday 8 January 2019 GLA Budget – the Mayor (4) 

Tuesday 5 March 2019 London & Partners 

Budget Monitoring Sub-Committee 

4.6 The Budget Monitoring Sub-Committee monitors GLA Group spending and performance and informs 

the work of the Budget and Performance Committee.  It will meet four times during 2018/19. The 

table below sets out the future meetings of the Sub-Committee in 2018/19, with likely discussion 

topics. The Committee will make further decisions on meeting topics as the year progresses. 

Wednesday 17 October 2018 Use of reserves / Housing Infrastructure 
Fund 

Wednesday 12 December 2018 Crossrail 2 / London Economic Action 
Partnership 

Wednesday 20 March 2019 To be confirmed 

 

4.7 As well as examining the GLA Group quarterly monitoring reports, the Sub-Committee will explore 

topical issues or specific areas contributing to the full Committee’s investigations or reports, where 

appropriate, and examine Mayoral Decisions. The Sub-Committee will also consider the use of 

reserves in the GLA Group, Housing Infrastructure Fund, Crossrail 2 and the London Economic 

Action Partnership in 2018/19. 

5 Legal Implications 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

Page 98



        

6 Financial Implications 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  None 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Richard Berry, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

Email: richard.berry@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 99

mailto:richard.berry@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 100


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	Minutes - Appendix 1 - Transcript
	Minutes - 12 June 2018
	Minutes - Appendix 1 - TfL Finances

	4 Summary List of Actions
	5 Transport for London Finances
	6 Budget and Performance Committee Work Programme

